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Quote
The Board of Directors of the Company has today approved the audited consolidated
financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2019.
The total revenue generated for the year amounted to € 68,729,751 as against a forecast
of €64,221,000. Adjusted Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization
(EBITDA) amounted to €12,718,683 (2018: €7,318,591) as against a forecast of
€14,134,000. Forecast results are those projected in the financial analysis summary
published on the 22 May 2019. A significant amount of the variance in EBITDA relates
to the transactional costs recognized during the reporting year in respect of the
acquisition of AMT S.A. which was terminated on 16 April 2020, as set out in
announcement 205/2020.
The Board resolved that these audited consolidated financial statements be submitted
for the approval of the shareholders at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting, the
date of which is yet to be determined due to the COVID19 restrictions.
The Audited Financial Statements are attached to this announcement and are available
for viewing on the Company’s website at http://www.medservenergy.com/medservplc-financial-statements .
Unquote

Laragh Cassar
Company Secretary
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Medserv p.l.c.
Chairman’s Statement
For the Year Ended 31 December 2019

The year under review 2019 confirmed the improving performance of the Medserv Group as the investment
done in previous years contributed to this positive result. The market stability experienced during 2019
allowed the Group to utilise effectively its assets across the globe while meeting published forecast for the
year.
This result was achieved whilst discussions were ongoing with new strategic investors demonstrating the
capabilities of the strong management team and the sound direction of the board of directors. The recent
turn of events in the form of the COVID-19 pandemic has led the two major shareholders and AMT S.A. to
abort the plan for the major shareholders to sell their holdings to the incoming new investor.
As announced Anthony Duncan and I will continue to seek a new strategic investor that will support the
continued growth of the Group while implementing the succession plan for the current major shareholders.
This will be done when the right investor is identified at the appropriate time.
The Group started the current year 2020 at a strong pace and the first quarter continued same as 2019. The
recent slowdown in the global economy has necessitated quick and tough decisions by the Group and
measures have been put in place to conserve liquidity and place our Group in a position to meet its financial
obligations and to continue to service our clients in these challenging times.
The results obtained in 2019 show that we have invested wisely and that our product is very well received
by the market. The slowdown we are expecting to experience over the next twelve months will cease as
demand for oil and economic growth returns to the global market.
My board and management are focused on our long-term plans to ensure that the Group will restructure at
all levels where necessary while allowing us to retain the position of relevance we enjoy in our market today.
Both I and the Group look at the future with cautious confidence as the experience we have shared with all
our stakeholders over the last forty-five years of activity have time and again demonstrated that the industry
and our Group are both resilient and well equipped to overcome the current slowdown and resume growth
in 2021.

Anthony S Diacono
Chairman
29 May 2020
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CEO’s Statement
For the Year Ended 31 December 2019

Resilient today, Growth tomorrow
Over the years Medserv has established a good reputation in the energy industry evidenced by the longterm relationships with International Oil Companies (IOCs), multinational pipe suppliers and their
subcontractors. The Company has successfully spread its business by geographically positioning itself in
both offshore and onshore oil and gas markets having low cost of extraction.
This puts Medserv in a well-positioned place to continue achieving steady growth in its core geographical
markets and products.
Performance 2019
The Company’s total revenues for year 2019 amounted to €68.7 million (2018: €36.2 million), 90% increase
over last year. Earnings, before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) grew by 74%, from
€7.3 million to €12.7 million. A detailed analysis of the Company’s financial performance for the reporting
year is provided in the Directors’ report.
Integrated Logistics Support Services (ILSS) segment supported offshore drilling activity in Libya, Cyprus,
Egypt and Suriname. The Middle East remained the main driver for EBITDA from supply chain management
of Oil Country Tubular Goods (OCTG).
All operating facilities within the Company registered improved earnings in year 2019, compared to last
year, with significant improved earnings in Iraq and Malta (for Libya). A key contributor to the overall
improved EBITDA was the Suriname exploration drilling campaign. Despite the drilling campaign terminating
at the end of 2019 the Company is committed to maintain its presence in the region. The large finds in
Guyana, Trinidad and Tobago, as well as future activity planned in Suriname makes this region an exciting
area for exploration in the oil and gas industry.
The substantial investment carried out over the last years in Health and Quality by the Company has allowed
us to register the lowest ever level of incidents and near misses compared to historic results. A huge
achievement considering the volume of business registered during the year.
COVID-19 impact
The COVID-19 pandemic coupled with the collapse in the oil price due to the drop in demand for oil as well
as geo-political events resulted in international oil companies (IOCs) announcing cutting back on capital
expenditure, and customers demanding discounts. Medserv’s budgeted earnings for year 2020 were
impacted particularly in the ILSS segment as offshore drilling activity has been postponed. In our case this
suspension of service was mainly due to the inability of providing a safe working environment, consequent
to travel bans and closure of ports imposed by Governments.
The earnings from the OCTG segment of the Company which is driven by onshore drilling activity in the
Middle East had minimal impact from the pandemic and oil price decrease. National Oil Companies of this
region did not suspend any onshore drilling and continue to confirm their commitment to approved projects
as well as to increase their production capabilities.
We project offshore exploratory drilling and development in the Company’s operating markets to resume
in second quarter of next year, resulting in the Company returning to EBITDA levels generated in year 2019.
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CEO’s Statement (continued)
For the Year Ended 31 December 2019

Action Plan 2020 to 2023
Year 2020 is expected to be a challenging year for the Company as it battles through the economic impact
of COVID-19. The Company’s objective is to preserve its liquidity and ensure that it continues to register
positive EBITDA during this period. Immediate cost containment measures have been put in place across
the Group to restructure to the new norm and any capital expenditure plans have been postponed. Such
measures ensure that the Company will have sufficient funds to meets its obligations as they arise and fall
due through the course of the year.
The Company still enjoys a strong business pipeline across its core markets, being North Africa, Eastern
Mediterranean and the Middle East. Once travel bans are lifted these long-term energy projects for which
the Company is already contracted to service will resume. The main reason for resumption being that the
cost of commercialising these projects are low, and they are located close to the market or are needed for
national consumption. These projected earnings allow the Company to implement its financial plan to
establish a sustainable long-term capital structure and position the Company for long-term growth.
Additionally, the Company is awaiting adjudication of several tenders including ILSS services to an IOC
operating offshore Egypt and Supply Chain Management for OCTG contracts in the United Arab Emirates.
Africa will be the next growing market for energy and the Company has the experience and reach to tap this
market in need of Medserv’s core competencies.
The Company’s strategy remains that of sustainable growth. Priority will be given to reducing the Company’s
gearing levels which will allow the company to meet all its obligations, finance growth and resume dividend
payment in the near future.
Despite near-term headwinds, we remain excited about what the coming years will bring for Medserv. We
thank our customers for their business and trust, our employees for their hard work and dedication, and
our shareholders for their support.

Karl Bartolo
CEO
29 May 2020
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Medserv p.l.c.
Corporate Social Responsibility
For the Year Ended 31 December 2019

We believe that our commitment to social responsibility is a long-term investment that serves to strengthen
our operations and competitiveness in the marketplace, attract and engage talented employees, and
maintain our reputation. The Company is committed to remaining socially accountable and highly conscious
about creating positive social value. The Company recognises the importance and places priority on social
awareness and contribution, environmental factors, as well as the well-being and development of its
workforce whilst maximising the creation of shared value for its shareholders.
Today the Company operates across four continents and in each of its bases, the respective teams are
responsible to carry out and implement the Company’s commitment to corporate social responsibility (CSR).
Over 2019, the teams in Malta, Cyprus, Egypt, the Middle East and Suriname carried out several initiatives
and put forward donations and philanthropy proposals to this effect.
The team in Cyprus participated in beach clean ups with a view to raising awareness of preserving our
environment as well as marathons to highlight the importance of sports and physical wellbeing.
Across the Atlantic, in Suriname, the team sponsored the enrolment of students to various technical
courses as well as on-the-job training to young marine cadets in Suriname reaffirming the firm’s belief in
contributing towards education by offering opportunities to the communities in which we operate. In the
Middle East, the team once again provided an Iftar meal pack distribution for all personnel in Hamriyah Free
zone, to both METS & non-METS personnel. In Malta, the Company sponsored the Write Deal Association
in order to raise public and political awareness on social and environmental issues through its audio-visual
productions and work amongst other initiatives.
As part of our philanthropic and community engagement efforts, across Medserv Group, the Company also
supported initiatives that increase the awareness of health issues in society by participating in events as
well as donating to various health awareness campaigns such as Pink October, Movember and Autism
Awareness. Amongst others, the Company has also sponsored the LifeCycle (Malta) Foundation which raises
awareness on the importance of kidney health for everyone. In fiscal year 2019, the Company also provided
donations to various charitable institutions and events such as the Orphanage ‘Elim of the Lord’ in Suriname,
and the Community Chest Fund and L-Istrina 2019 in Malta.
We continue to drive emission reductions with a portfolio of projects such as heating and air condition
upgrades, lighting efficiencies, and operational enhancements across the Company. Medserv has also
recognised the responsibility for pursuing more proactive and sustainable practices in the energy sector and
acknowledged its obligation to reduce its carbon footprint. In 2014, the Company invested in the
implementation of a 2MW PV system (solar farm) at its Malta Freeport base. In 2018, Medserv Malta’s
operation was carbon positive with a recorded energy savings equivalent of avoiding 1,235 tonnes of CO²
production. The Company was amongst the first in the industry to adopt such measures, something that
Medserv is very proud of. In 2019, Medserv Malta’s operation was also carbon positive with a recorded
energy savings equivalent of avoiding 1,342 tonnes of CO2 production in Malta. These higher annual
generating results were achieved through meeting a 5% system efficiency upgrade annual target. The
Company is confident that high efficiency results will be repeated in 2020.
In 2019, the Company also concluded its collaboration as the main industrial partners in the pioneering
award winning FLASC project, a cutting-edge offshore energy storage prototype. This project uses
pressurised seawater and compressed air to store energy from offshore renewable resources.
Whilst we must continually push ourselves and our Company further in advancing our environmental and
social commitments, we remain thankful for the support of our employees, stakeholders, and customers
and look forward to continuing to work together on behalf of these and further worthy causes.
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Medserv p.l.c.
Directors’ Report
For the Year Ended 31 December 2019
The directors have prepared this directors’ report for Medserv p.l.c. (”the Company”) in accordance with
Article 177 of the Companies Act, 1995 (Chapter 386, Laws of Malta) (“the Act”) including the further
provisions as set out in the Sixth Schedule to the Act together with the financial statements of the Company
for the year ended 31 December 2019.
Board of directors
Anthony S Diacono
Anthony J Duncan
Joseph F X Zahra
Joseph Zammit Tabona
Godwin A Borg (resigned on 2 July 2019)
Laragh Cassar
Principal activities
The Group’s principal activities consist of providing shore base logistics and engineering services to the
offshore oil and gas industry and supply chain management for Oil Country Tubular Goods (OCTG) to
support the onshore oil and gas industry. Shore base logistics is mainly provided from the Group’s bases set
up in Mediterranean rim countries and South America, supporting International Oil Companies (IOCs) in
their offshore activities, ranging from exploration to development and production.
Supply chain management for OCTG are mainly provided by Middle East Tubular Services Group of
Companies (METS) from its facilities in the Middle East. The Group is continuously working to cross-sell its
services within its Group’s operating segments.
Review of business development
With spending returning by the IOCs on the back of stronger oil prices, year 2019 was characterised an
upward trajectory in the global oil and gas upstream sector. The investment that the Group has put in place
in its management systems during the past years is bearing positive results. Medserv has achieved
international recognition within the oil and gas service industry for its core competencies, namely the
Integrated Logistics Support Services (ILSS) and OCTG.
The year 2019 was marked with a number of value propositions which have increased the underlying values
of the Company’s contracts as well as unlocking new opportunities in both its operating segments.
During the fourth quarter of 2018, following an international tendering process, the Company secured a
shore base contract valued at $30 million in Suriname, which is in South America and represents a new
geographical market to the Group. Although the drilling project ended in December 2019, this contract has
provided the Group with significant positive exposure in an emerging region which is adjacent to the
significant discoveries in offshore Guyana, potentially providing further opportunities in the region for the
Group, including in Suriname.
Operations in Egypt started in January 2018. As in any start-up, the contract implementation was challenging
as the Company finalized its recruitment for key personnel and the purchase of all its own equipment. All
the equipment has been commissioned towards the fourth quarter of 2018, and this resulted in increased
earnings and margins reflected in 2019. Following the successful execution of this important contract, the
Group is well positioned to secure services of similar scope with other operators in Egypt.
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Review of business development (continued)
During the year, the Company has secured a third contract in Cyprus with a major IOC, which has now
consolidated the Company’s leading position in the region. The Company has successfully supported a twowell drilling program during the year in Block 10, which resulted in a considerable natural gas discovery
offshore Cyprus in the second well, Glaucus-1. This has triggered multi-drilling programs in the coming years
as well as interest by other IOCs in securing acreage in neighbouring countries.
The Group continues to service the offshore Libya projects as its contracts are extended. Work volume is
anticipated to increase in line with the IOCs’ offshore development plan to increase offshore field
production volumes in Libya.
The OCTG operating segment operating solely in the Middle East remains a key contributor to the Group’s
earnings. The subsidiary in Duqm, Oman continues to generate substantial earnings. The performance of
the subsidiaries in Iraq and in Sohar, Oman is improving. Restructuring measures have been put in place and
the Company remains committed to operating in these two regions as a result of the potential growth
opportunities. The Iraq business venture has a leading position being the sole VAM® licensed workshop in
the south of the country. The VAM® licensee network consists of certified repair shops that thread premium
connections of the same quality and performance as those delivered from the production facilities of
Vallourec Oil & Gas France.
The Board continues to strategically lead the business focusing on the activities it has experience in, as well
as on the opportunities it sees going forward.
Principal risks and uncertainties
The Board considers the nature and the extent of the risk profile that is acceptable to the Board and the
impact these risks pose to the Group. The most important strategic, corporate and operational risks, as well
as uncertainties identified during the year together with the actions taken by the Group to reduce these
risks, are listed below:
Concentration risk: The Group’s business is heavily dependent on relatively few customers both in the shore
base logistics and OCTG. The Group’s objective is to increase client spread within the oil and gas industry.
The acquisition of METS was a significant measure taken during 2016 to reduce client concentration risk.
During the year, the Group has secured contracts with other major IOCs. The strategic development team
is continuously working to secure business with new IOCs. In addition, the Company is also marketing its
services to various industries to reduce its concentration on the oil and gas industry.
Political risk: The Group’s results may be significantly impacted positively or negatively as a result of political
decisions. Regulatory and environmental decisions, as well as political instability can delay, disrupt or cancel
projects. The fiscal and economic conditions in Libya remained fragile during the year, characterised by
inflation and a persistent political strife. The deterioration in the security situation continues to affect the
prospects of its oil industry, though the country has recovered part of its oil production and exports. In Iraq,
the political and security situation has been improving since late 2018. Iraq is the second-largest crude oil
producer in the Organisation of the Petroleum Exporting Countries (OPEC) after Saudi Arabia and is
therefore a key pillar within the oil market. The Group now operates in eight jurisdictions, with the intention
of increasing its operational footprint to continue to minimise this risk.
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Principal risks and uncertainties (continued)
Oil price: Oil service companies tend to have greater volatility of earnings than oil majors, given their
sensitivity to the capital spending plans of oil explorers, which wax and wane with oil prices. Similar to other
players in the industry, an increase in oil prices would directly benefit the Company from increased services
required by oil companies in preparation of the oil exploration. On the other hand, as oil prices decline,
energy production companies focus their efforts on increasing operating efficiencies. As companies engaged
in oil and natural gas production curtail capital expenditures and seek operating efficiencies in response to
lower oil prices, these actions apply downward pressure on the rates charged by drillers, oilfield support
services, and other suppliers such as the Company. Accordingly, the Company’s profit margins may be
tightened due to such weakened demand for the services offered and heightened industry competition to
maintain market share. The Group is always striving to reduce this risk by investing in countries where cost
of oil production is low, primarily in the Middle East and Africa. Also, the Group’s strategy is to increase the
number of services offered. The Group’s services include ‘Offshore Logistics’, ‘Drilling Fluid Manufacture’,
‘OCTG Pipe Services’, ‘Engineering Services’ and ‘Environmental Services’. Last year, the Group continued its
drive to increase its spread by adding ‘Management Services’ within its portfolio.
Financial performance
Group’s total revenue for the year amounted to €68,729,751 (2018: €36,187,199), representing an increase
of 90% over the previous year. The increase in revenue during 2019 is mainly attributable to the nearshore
drilling project in Suriname which ended prematurely in December 2019. As a result, the ILSS reported an
increase in revenue of €30,727,819, representing an increase of 143% over the previous year. The OCTG
segment has also registered an increase in revenue of €1,830,705, which is equivalent to 13% increase when
compared with last year.
The Adjusted Earnings before Interest, Taxation, Depreciation and Amortisation (EBITDA) of the Group
amounted to €12,718,683 (2018: €7,318,591), a significant improvement of 74% over the previous year as
a result of the revenue growth. The increase is mainly attributable to the ILSS segment. After recognising
depreciation amounting to €7,839,572 (2018: €7,874,498), amortisation amounting to €1,791,067 (2018:
€1,923,600), net provision for impairment losses on property, plant and equipment amounting to €Nil
(2018: €981,572), the Group generated an operating profit amounting to €3,088,044 (2018: loss of
€3,461,446) as a result of the improved business performance. Last year’s results were largely impacted by
a one-time net provision for impairment losses on property, plant and equipment. The Group has continued
to generate cash profits and this allowed the Group to maintain investment throughout that period,
enabling the Group to meet demand and new opportunities.
After deducting the net finance costs amounting to €5,641,431 (2018: €5,369,898), the Group registered a
loss before tax of €2,553,387 (2018: loss before tax of €8,831,344). Loss after accounting for taxation
amounted to €3,360,983 (2018: €9,526,894).
The Group registered negative earnings per share of €0.05c4 (2018: negative earnings per share of €0.16c8).
Revenue
The Group’s revenue was 76% (2018: €59%) generated by the ILSS segment, 23% (2018: €40%) by the OCTG
segment and the remaining 0.7% by the photovoltaic income (2018: 1.4%).
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Financial performance (continued)
Cost of sales and administrative expenses
The cost of sales of the Group for the year amounted to €59,391,709 against €33,639,893 incurred in 2018
mainly due to the increase in the employee benefits expense by €3.8 million following the Group’s activity
in Suriname. Gross profit margins increased by 7% to 14% compared to last year as a result of the
improvement in the market and various cost efficiencies adopted by management during the year.
Cost of sales also include the amortisation of the intangible assets amounting to €1,472,987 (2018:
€1,472,988) which were recognised in 2016 upon the acquisition of METS. These intangible assets consist
mainly of customer relationships and is being amortised over a period of ten years. The Company believes
that the intrinsic value from the recognised customer relationships is yet to be derived in the coming years.
Administrative expenses are mainly fixed by nature. However, the increase over last year is mainly the result
of last year’s drilling campaign in Suriname. In addition, during the year, the Group continued its investment
in its business development with the objective of participating in new tenders as opportunities present
themselves.
Included in the administrative expenses of the Company is an impairment loss of €2.6 million relating to the
Company’s investment in a group holding company with investment in the subsidiary in Egypt. This
subsidiary is still in its first years of operations and has incurred significant capital expenditure with the aim
to achieve long-term growth. As a result, an impairment loss was determined and recognised in the
administrative expenses. In the event that the subsidiary in Egypt secures a major contract with another
IOC, this impairment could possibly reverse. In addition, administrative expenses for the year also include
a significant amount of professional fees in relation to the due diligence of a potential acquisition which was
interrupted as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.
Financial key performance indicators – the Group

Total turnover
- Integrated Logistics Support Services (ILSS)
- Oil Country Tubular Goods (OCTG)
- Photovoltaic Farm
Adjusted EBITDA
Loss for the year
Cash generated from operating activities
Cash and cash equivalents
Equity
Balance sheet total
Capital expenditure

vii

Year
2019
€ Million

Year
2018
€ Million

68.73
52.20
16.05
0.48
12.72
(3.36)
10.05
0.62
14.09
154.69
1.46

36.19
21.47
14.22
0.50
7.32
(9.53)
8.8
2.41
18.7
156.78
6.88
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Financial key performance indicators – the Group (continued)

EBITDA margin in %
Interest coverage ratio
Net debt to EBITDA
Debt to Equity ratio
EPS
Average employees for the year

Year
2019

Year
2018

19%
15.98
(1.827)
9.98
(5c4)
304

20.27%
2.37
7.34
3
(16c8)
292

Financial position
The equity attributable to the owners of the Company as at 31 December 2019 amounted to
€14,768,232(2018: €19,349,641).
Dividends
No reserves are available for distribution.
Reserves
Accumulated losses amounting to €12,438,608 and €4,457,372 for the Group and the Company respectively
are being carried forward.
Future developments
In line with the Group’s strategy for diversification in geographic markets, client base and product services,
the Group is actively positioning itself for growth in various new significant oil and gas markets. The Group
is awaiting adjudication on tenders relating to Supply Chain Management contracts in the Middle East
during 2020. These long-term contracts are a result of organic growth in the region following the acquisition
of the METS Group in 2016. The volumes and profits projected from these contracts would be equivalent to
those currently being earned in Oman. These long-term projects would provide the Group with consistent
and dependable earnings from 2020 onwards. The Company is still experiencing an increasing number of
tendering opportunities within its core ILSS and OCTG competencies and is in discussions with IOCs to crosssell its existing facilities for supply chain management of OCTG to support both the offshore and onshore
drilling campaigns.
Events occurring after the end of the accounting period
Since the start of 2020, the COVID-19 epidemic has been impacting the hydrocarbon demand, causing oil
prices to fall significantly. In addition, the decision by OPEC and Russia to stop their cooperation on the
markets over proposed oil-production cuts caused crude oil prices to fall sharply as the global industry
continued to face an unprecedent oversupply and uncertainty in the demand.
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Events occurring after the end of the accounting period (continued)
Despite the operational challenges presented by COVID-19, the Company’s operating subsidiaries have
remained substantially operational and continue to service their clients. The global pandemic coupled with
the macro-economic uncertainty in the industry has caused the offshore drilling exploratory projects to be
postponed rather than cancelled, including those projects involving services offered by the Company. The
scale and duration of these developments remain uncertain; however, this is expected to negatively impact
the Company’s earnings and cash flows until the situation returns to normal.
The Company’s objective is to preserve its liquidity and ensure that it continues to register positive EBITDA.
The Company has immediately taken action to adapt its cost base through lower operating costs and expects
to benefit from government initiatives in relation to the COVID-19 pandemic. The Board shall continue to
adopt a proactive approach to the current environment to maintain the continued viability of the Company.
Outlook
Although the oil industry is going through a difficult period, upside exists for those companies that will
survive this challenge. Oil prices are expected to recover as oil demand rebounds underpinned by some
bullish factors such as a gradual easing of the global lockdown coupled with production cuts and China’s
bouncing back into the global market. A number of countries, including the countries in which the Group is
present, have started to ease the precautionary measures to retain the spread of COVID-19, hoping that
this will bring back the positivity in the market.
The recovery is expected to be gradual. Various energy research firms are predicting the global oil demand
to return to 2019 levels by end of year 2021, with oil prices hitting $40-$50 a barrel in the second half of
this year 2020 and touching $60 early 2021.
The Company still enjoys a strong business pipeline across its core markets, being North Africa, Eastern
Mediterranean and the Middle East. As travel restrictions are lifted, the long-term energy projects for which
the Group is already contracted will resume. The cost of commercialising these projects is relatively low as
the investment in the required infrastructure has already been made by the IOCs. Furthermore, such
projects are located close to the market or are needed for national consumption.
Going concern
The impact of COVID-19 pandemic which broke out after the reporting date may cast significant doubt on
the Company’s and Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in view of governments’ measures to
control the spread of COVID-19 and resulting disruptions in business operations; the pressure on short and
long term liquidity requirements; and declining demand for services as a result of delayed projects and cut
in capital expenditure by Group’s customers.
As required by Listing Rule 5.62, upon due consideration of the Group’s and Company’s performance and
statement of financial position, capital adequacy and solvency, and taking into consideration the factors
noted in the previous paragraph and Note 2.1 in the financial statements and the impact of a number of
mitigating factors which are explained in that note, the directors confirm the Group’s and Company’s ability
to continue operating as a going concern for the foreseeable future
Auditors
KPMG have expressed their willingness to continue in office. A resolution proposing the reappointment of
KPMG as auditors of the Company will be submitted at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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Disclosure in terms of the Listing Rules
Pursuant to Listing Rule 5.64
Share capital structure
The Company’s authorised share capital is €12,000,000 divided into 120,000,000 ordinary shares of €0.10
per share. The Company’s issued share capital is €5,374,440.50 divided into 53,744,405 ordinary shares of
€0.10 per share. All of the issued shares of the Company form part of one class of ordinary shares in the
Company, which shares are listed on the Malta Stock Exchange. All shares in the Company have the same
rights and entitlements and rank pari passu between themselves.
The following are highlights of the rights attaching to the shares:
Dividends:
Voting rights:
Pre-emption rights:

Capital distributions:
Transferability:
Other:
Mandatory takeover bids:

Holdings in excess of 5% of
the share capital

The shares carry the right to participate in any distribution of dividend
declared by the Company;
Each share shall be entitled to one vote at meetings of shareholders;
Subject to the limitations contained in the memorandum and articles of
association, shareholders in the Company shall be entitled, in accordance
with the provisions of the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association, to be offered any new shares to be issued by the Company a
right to subscribe for such shares in proportion to their then current
shareholding, before such shares are offered to the public or to any person
not being a shareholder.
The shares carry the right for the holders thereof to participate in any
distribution of capital made whether on a winding up or otherwise;
The shares are freely transferable in accordance with the rules and
regulations of the Malta Stock Exchange, applicable from time to time;
The shares are not redeemable and not convertible into any other form of
security;
Chapter 11 of the Listing Rules, implementing the relevant Squeeze-Out
and Sell-Out Rules provisions of Directive 2004/25/EC of the European
Parliament and of the Council of 21 April 2004, regulates the acquisition by
a person or persons acting in concert of the control of a company and
provides specific rules on takeover bids, squeeze-out rules and sell-out
rules. The shareholders of the Company may be protected by the said
Listing Rules in the event that the Company is subject to a Takeover Bid (as
defined therein). The Listing Rules may be viewed on the official website
of the Listing Authority - www.mfsa.com.mt;
On the basis of the information available to the Company as at the 31
December 2019, the following persons hold 5% or more of its issued share
capital:
Malampaya Investments Limited 34.3%
(18,450,000 shares)
Anthony S Diacono
31.2%
(16,751,835 shares)
Rizzo
Farrugia
&
Co 11.31% (5,754,844 shares)
(Stockbrokers) Limited on behalf
of clients
As far as the Company is aware, no other person holds any direct or
indirect shareholding in excess of 5% of its total issued share capital.

x

Medserv p.l.c.
Directors’ Report
For the Year Ended 31 December 2019
Appointment/Replacement
of Directors

In terms of the memorandum and articles of association of the Company,
the directors of the Company shall be appointed by the shareholders in the
annual general meeting as follows:
(a)
Any shareholder/s who, in the aggregate, holds not less than 0.5%
of the total shares having voting rights in the Company shall be entitled to
nominate a fit and proper person for appointment as a director of the
Company. The directors themselves or a committee thereof may make
recommendations and nominations to the shareholders for the
appointment of directors at the next following annual general meeting.
(b)
Shareholders are granted a period of at least fourteen (14) days
to nominate candidates for appointment as Directors. Such notice may be
given by the publication of an advertisement in at least two (2) daily
newspapers. All such nominations, including the candidate’s acceptance to
be nominated as director, shall on pain of disqualification be made on the
form to be prescribed by the Directors from time to time and shall reach
the Office not later than fourteen (14) days after the publication of the said
notice (the “Submission Date”); PROVIDED THAT the Submission Date shall
not be less than fourteen (14) days prior to the date of the meeting
appointed for such election. Nominations to be made by the Directors or
any sub-committee of the Directors appointed for that purpose shall also
be made by not later than the date established for the closure of
nominations to shareholders.
(c)
In the event that there are either less nominations than there are
vacancies on the board or if there are as many nominations made as there
are vacancies on the Board, then each person so nominated shall be
automatically appointed a director.
(d)
In the event that there are more nominations made, then an
election shall take place. After the date established as the closing date for
nominations to be received by the Company for persons to be appointed
directors, the directors shall draw the names of each candidate by lot and
place each name in a list in the order in which they were drawn. The list
shall be signed by the Chairman and the Company Secretary for verification
purposes.
(e)
On the notice calling the annual general meeting at which an
election of directors is to take place there shall be proposed one resolution
for the appointment of each candidate in the order in which the names
were drawn, so that there shall be as many resolutions as there are
candidates. The Directors shall further ensure that any Member may vote
for each candidate by proxy.
(f)
At the general meeting at which the election of directors is to take
place the Chairman shall propose the name of each candidate as a separate
resolution and the shareholders shall take a separate vote for each
candidate (either by a show of hands or through a poll). Each shareholder
shall be entitled, in the event of a poll, to use all or part only of his votes
on a particular candidate.
(g)
Upon a resolution being carried, the candidate proposed by virtue
of that resolution shall be considered elected and appointed a Director. No
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further voting shall take place once enough resolutions have been passed
to ensure that all vacancies on the Board have been filled, even if there are
still candidates with respect to whom a resolution has not yet been called.
(h)
Shareholders may vote in favour or against the resolution for the
appointment of a director in any election, and a resolution shall be
considered carried if it receives the assent of more than 50% of the
shareholders present and voting at the meeting.
(i)
Unless a shareholder demands that a vote be taken in respect of
all or any one or more of the nominees, in the event that there are as many
nominations as there are vacancies or less, no voting will take place and
the nominees will be deemed appointed directors.
(j)
Subject to the above, any vacancy among the directors may be
filled by the co-option of another person to fill such vacancy. Such cooption shall be made by the board of directors and shall be valid until the
conclusion of the next annual general meeting.
(k)
Any director may be removed, at any time, by the Member or
Members by whom he was appointed. The removal may be made in the
same manner as the appointment.
(l)
Any director may be removed at any time by the Company in
general meeting pursuant to the provisions of section 140 of the Act.
Amendment
to
the
Memorandum and Articles
of Association

Board members’ powers

In terms of the Companies Act, Cap 386 of the laws of Malta, the Company
may by extraordinary resolution at a general meeting alter or add to its
memorandum or articles of association. An extraordinary resolution is one
where:
(a)
it has been taken at a general meeting of which notice specifying
the intention to propose the text of the resolution as an extraordinary
resolution and the principle purpose thereof has been duly given;
(b)
it has been passed by a shareholder or shareholders having the
right to attend and vote at the meeting holding in the aggregate not less
than seventy five per cent (75%) in nominal value of the shares issued by
the Company represented and entitled to vote at the meeting and at least
fifty one per cent (51%) in nominal value of all the shares issued by the
Company and entitled to vote at the meeting.
If one of the aforesaid majorities is obtained but not both, another meeting
shall be duly convened within 30 days to take a fresh vote on the proposed
resolution. At the second meeting the resolution may be passed by a
shareholder or shareholders having the right to attend and vote at the
meeting holding in the aggregate not less than 75% in nominal value of the
shares issued by the Company represented and entitled to vote at the
meeting. However, if more than half in nominal value of all the shares
issued by the Company having the right to vote at the meeting is
represented at that meeting, a simple majority in nominal value of such
shares so represented shall suffice.
The Directors are vested with the management of the Company, and their
powers of management and administration emanate directly from the
memorandum and articles of association and the law. The Directors are
empowered to act on behalf of the Company and in this respect have the

xii

Medserv p.l.c.
Directors’ Report
For the Year Ended 31 December 2019
authority to enter into contracts, sue and be sued in representation of the
Company. In terms of the memorandum and articles of association they
may do all such things that are not by the memorandum and articles of
association reserved for the Company in general meeting.
In particular, the Directors are authorised to issue shares in the Company
with such preferred, deferred or other special rights or such restrictions,
whether in regard to dividend, voting, return of capital or otherwise as the
Directors may from time to time determine, as long as such issue of Equity
Securities falls within the authorised share capital of the Company. Unless
the shareholders otherwise approve in a general meeting, the Company
shall not in issuing and allotting new shares:
(a)
allot any of them on any terms to any person unless an offer has
first been made to each existing shareholder to allot to him at least on the
same terms, a proportion of the new shares which is as nearly as
practicable equal to the proportion in nominal value held by him of the
aggregate shares in issue in the Company immediately prior to the new
issue of shares; and
(b)
allot any of them to any person upon the expiration of any offer
made to existing shareholders in terms of a) above. Any such shares not
subscribed for by the existing shareholders may be offered for subscription
to the general public under the same or other conditions which however
cannot be more favourable to the public than offer made under (a).
Furthermore, the Company may, subject to such restrictions, limitations
and conditions contained in the Companies Act, acquire its own shares.
Save as otherwise disclosed herein, the provisions of Listing Rules 5.64.2, 5.64.4 to 5.64.7 and 5.64.11 are
not applicable to the Company. Disclosure pursuant to Listing Rule 5.64.10 is not being on the basis that it
could be seriously prejudicial to the Company.
Pursuant to Listing Rule 5.70.1
There were no material contracts to which the Company, or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which
anyone of the Company’s Directors was directly or indirectly interested.
Pursuant to Listing Rule 5.70.2
Company Secretary:
Registered Office of Company:

Telephone:

Dr Laragh Cassar LL.D.
Port of Marsaxlokk
Birzebbugia
Malta
(+356) 2220 2000

Approved by the Board of Directors on 29 May 2020 and signed on its behalf by:

Anthony S. Diacono
Chairman

Dr Laragh Cassar
Company Secretary
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Statement of the Directors pursuant to Listing Rule 5.68
To the best of the knowledge of the directors:
(i)

the financial statements, prepared in accordance with the applicable accounting standards, give a
true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the Issuer and the
undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole; and

(ii)

the Directors’ report includes a fair review of the performance of the business and the position of
the Company and the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole, together with a
description of the principal risks and uncertainties that they face.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors on 29 May 2020 by:

Anthony S. Diacono
Chairman

Dr. Laragh Cassar
Company Secretary
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Introduction
Pursuant to the Listing Rules issued by the Listing Authority, Medserv p.l.c. (the “Company”) as a company
whose equity securities are listed on a regulated market, should endeavour to adopt the Code of Principles
of Good Corporate Governance contained in Appendix 5.1 of the Listing Rules (the “Code”). In terms of Listing
Rule 5.94, the Company is obliged to prepare a report explaining how it has complied with the Code. For the
purposes of the Listing Rules, the Company is hereby reporting on the extent of its adoption of the
recommended Code.
The directors all share the conviction that the practices recommended by the Code are in the best interests
of the Medserv Group of Companies and its shareholders generally and that compliance therewith is not only
expected by investors but also evidences the directors' and the Company's commitment to a high standard
of governance.
Good corporate governance is the collective responsibility of the board of directors of the Company (the
“Board”). As demonstrated by the information set out in this statement, the Company believes that it has,
save as indicated herein the section entitled “Non-Compliance with the Code”, throughout the accounting
period under review, applied the principles and complied with the provisions of the Code. In the NonCompliance section, the Board indicates and explains the instances where it has departed from or where it
has not applied the Code, as allowed by the Code.
Part 1: Compliance with the Code
Principle 1: The Board
The Board’s principal purpose is to provide the required leadership of the Company, to set the present and
future strategy of the Company and to ensure proper oversight and accountability. During 2019, the Board
comprised six directors, three of whom holding Executive positions, that is, Mr Anthony S. Diacono (Executive
Director), Mr Anthony J. Duncan (Executive Director) and Mr Godwin A. Borg (Executive Director) (resigned
on the 2nd July 2019) and three holding Non-Executive positions, Mr Joseph F.X. Zahra (Non-Executive
Director), Mr Joseph Zammit Tabona (Non-Executive Director), and Laragh Cassar (Non-Executive Director).
All of the directors were nominated by the shareholders and appointed automatically with effect from the
annual general meeting held on the 27 May 2019.
The Board is composed of persons who have the necessary characteristics and experience to render them fit
and proper to direct the business of the Company. The presence of the executive directors on the Board is
designed to ensure that the Board has direct access to the individuals having the prime responsibility for the
executive management of the Company and the implementation of approved policies. Each director is
provided with the information and explanations as may be required by any particular agenda item.
The Board delegates specific responsibilities to an Audit Committee, to a Remuneration Committee and to a
Financial Risk Committee. Further details in relation to the said committees and the responsibilities of the
Board are found in Principles 4 and 5 of this Statement.
The directors and Restricted Persons (as defined in the Listing Rules) are informed and are aware of their
obligations on dealings in securities of the Company within the established parameters of the law and the
Listing Rules. Each such Director and Senior Officer has been provided with the code of dealing required in
terms of Listing Rule 5.106 and training in respect of their obligations arising thereunder.
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Part 1: Compliance with the Code (continued)
Principle 2: Chairman and Chief Executive
The Chairman of the Company (which position is occupied by Mr Anthony S. Diacono) leads the Board and
sets its agenda. In addition, the Chairman ensures that the directors receive precise, timely and objective
information so that they can take sound decisions and effectively monitor the performance of the Company
and that effective communication with shareholders is maintained. The Chairman also encourages active
engagement by all directors for discussion of complex or contentious issues. The executive responsibility for
the running of the Company’s business is collectively vested as explained in Part 2.
Principle 3: Composition of the Board
The Board considers that the size of the Board, whilst not being large as to be unwieldy, is appropriate, taking
into account the size of the Company and its operations. The combined and varied knowledge, experience
and skills of the Board members provides the balance of competences that are required, adds value to the
functioning of the Board and gives direction to the Company. The competencies of the Directors ranges from
industry, financial and legal expertise. Each of the directors has applied the necessary time and attention for
the performance of his/her duties to the Company.
As above set out, during 2019, the Board consisted of three executive directors and three non-executive
directors. The presence of Non-Executive Directors on the Board serves to, inter alia, constructively challenge
the Executive Directors and management of the Company, and particular focus is made on strategy and the
integrity of financial performance and management.
Mr Joseph Zammit Tabona (Non-Executive Director) is considered to be independent within the meaning
provided by the Code. Additionally, notwithstanding Mr Joseph FX Zahra having been appointed to the board
in 2006 and thus having served on the Board for more than twelve consecutive years, the Board still considers
Mr Zahra to be independent of the Company, its management and its controlling shareholders. Each nonexecutive director has submitted a declaration to the Board as stipulated under the Code Provision 3.4
undertaking:
a)

to maintain in all circumstances his/her independence of analysis, decision and action;

b)

not to seek or accept any unreasonable advantages that could be considered as compromising his/her
independence; and

c)

to clearly express his/her opposition in the event that he/she finds that a decision of the board may
harm the Company.

Principle 4: The Responsibilities of the Board
The Board has the first level responsibility for executing the four basic roles of Corporate Governance, namely
accountability, monitoring, strategy formulation and policy development. The Board has established a clear
internal and external reporting system so that it has access to accurate, relevant and timely information and
ensures that management constantly monitor performance and report to its satisfaction. The Board has an
active succession plan in place in respect of the responsibilities assumed by the Executive Directors – the
Company has implemented a number of measures aimed at strengthening the Company’s management
structure. In addition, the Board organises information sessions for Directors from time to time – during 2019,
the Board was provided with an overview of the Company’s market abuse policies and procedures.
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Principle 5: Board Meetings
For the period under review the Board has implemented its policy to meet at least once every quarter. As a
matter of practice, each board meeting to be held throughout the year is scheduled well in advance of their
due date and each director is provided with detailed Board papers relating to each agenda item in good time
prior to the actual meetings. Board meetings concentrate mainly on strategy, operational performance and
financial performance of the Company. After each Board meeting and before the next, Board minutes that
faithfully record attendance, key issues and decisions are sent to the directors.
Meetings were attended as follows:
Members
Anthony S. Diacono
Anthony J. Duncan
Joseph F.X. Zahra
Joseph Zammit Tabona
Godwin Borg1
Laragh Cassar

Meetings Attended out of Total held during tenure
8 out of 9
7 out of 9
9 out of 9
8 out of 9
4 out of 5
9 out of 9

The Board also delegates specific responsibilities to the management team of the Company, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Financial Risk Committee, which Committees operate
under their formal terms of reference.
Audit Committee
The Board delegates certain responsibilities to the Audit Committee, the terms of reference of which reflect
the requirements stipulated in the Listing Rules and under applicable law, including the roles set out in Listing
Rules 5.127 to 5.130. In addition, unless otherwise dealt with in any other manner prescribed by the Listing
Rules, the Audit Committee has the responsibility to, inter alia, monitor and scrutinise, and, if required,
approve Related Party Transactions, if any, falling within the ambits of the Listing Rules and to make its
recommendations to the Board of any such proposed Related Party Transactions. The Audit Committee
establishes internal procedures and monitors these on a regular basis. The terms of reference for the Audit
Committee are designed both to strengthen this function within the Company and to widen the scope of the
duties and responsibilities of this Committee. The Committee also has the authority to summon any person
to assist it in the performance of its duties, including the Company’s external auditors. KPMG, as external
auditors of the Company, were invited to attend each of the Company’s audit committee meetings. During
2019, the internal audit function continued to operate and carry out systematic risk-based reviews and
appraisals of the operations of the Company and its subsidiaries for the purpose of advising management
and the Board, through the Audit Committee, on the efficiency and effectiveness of management policies,
practices and internal controls.
The appointment of the auditors of the Company has been made in line with the Statutory Audit Regulation
(Regulation (EU) No 537/2014), in particular in compliance with Articles 16 and 17 of Title III of the said
Regulation.

1

Resigned on the 2nd July 2019
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Principle 5: Board Meetings (continued)
Audit Committee (continued)
Throughout 2019 to date, the Audit Committee was composed of Mr Joseph F.X. Zahra (independent nonexecutive director and Chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr Joseph Zammit Tabona (independent nonexecutive director) and Dr Laragh Cassar (non-executive director). The Chairman of the Audit Committee was
appointed by the Board of Directors.
During 2019, the Audit Committee met seven times.
Members
Joseph F.X. Zahra
Joseph Zammit Tabona
Laragh Cassar

Meetings Attended out of Total held during tenure
7 out of 7
7 out of 7
7 out of 7

The Board considers Joseph F.X. Zahra to be independent (as set out above) and competent in accounting
and/or auditing. Such determination was based on Mr Zahra’s substantial experience in various audit,
accounting and risk management roles throughout his career.
The Board is confident that the Audit Committee Members, as a whole, have competence relevant to the
sector in which the Issuer is operating, which competence was garnered over the years as a result of their
involvement with the Medserv group.
Financial Risk Committee
The Board has set up a Financial Risk Committee composed of Mr Anthony J. Duncan (executive director), Mr
Karl Bartolo (CEO), Mr Silvio Camilleri (Group CFO) and Mr Colin Galea (Chief Accountant). The said
Committee was set up with a view to manage the Group’s currency, interest rates, liquidity and foreign
exchange risks and to manage the Group’s own financial investments. The Committee operates under specific
terms of reference approved by the Board. The financial controllers within the Medserv group are invited to
attend each meeting of the Financial Risk Committee.
During 2019, the Financial Risk Committee met three (3) times.

Members

No of Meetings held:
3

Mr Anthony J. Duncan
Mr Karl Bartolo
Ms Silvio Camilleri
Mr Colin Galea

Attended
3
3
3
3

Remuneration Committee - This is considered under Principle 8.
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Principle 6: Information and Professional Development
The Board appoints the Chief Executive Officer. Appointments and changes to senior management are the
responsibility of the CEO and Executive Directors and are approved by the Board. The Board actively considers
the professional and technical development of the Board itself, all senior management and staff members.
The CEO also has systems in place to monitor management and staff morale. Management prepares detailed
reviews for each Board meeting covering all aspects of the Company’s business.
On joining the Board, a new director is provided with the opportunity to consult with the executive directors
and senior management of the Company in respect of the operations of the Group. Each director is made
aware of the Company’s on-going obligations in terms of the Companies Act, the Listing Rules and other
relevant legislation. Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary and to the
legal counsel of the Company. The Company is also prepared to bear the expense incurred by the directors
requiring independent professional advice should they judge it necessary to discharge their responsibilities
as directors.
Principle 7: Evaluation of the Board’s Performance
With respect to the year under review, the Board undertook an evaluation of its own performance, the
Chairman’s performance and that of its Committees. The Board did not per se appoint a Committee to carry
out this performance evaluation but the evaluation exercise was conducted through a questionnaire, copies
of which were sent to the Chairman of the Audit Committee and the results were reported to the Chairman
of the Board. No material changes were made to the Company’s structures as a result of the Board evaluation.
Principle 8: Remuneration Committee
The Board has set up a Remuneration Committee commissioned with overseeing the development and
implementation of the remuneration and related policies of the Medserv group of companies.
During the year under review, the Committee was composed of Mr Joseph Zammit Tabona (Chairman), Mr
Joseph FX Zahra and Dr Laragh Cassar, all of whom are non-executive directors. Mr Joseph FX Zahra and Mr
Joseph Zammit Tabona are considered to be independent directors.
During 2019, the Remuneration Committee met once to discuss and set the salaries and bonuses for senior
management. All members were present.
Principle 9: Relations with Shareholders and with the Market & Principle 10: Institutional Investors
The Board is of the view that over the period under review, the Company has communicated effectively with
the market through a number of company announcements that it published informing the market of
significant events happening within the Company.
The Company also communicates with its shareholders through its Annual General Meeting (further detail is
provided under the section entitled General Meetings). The Chairman arranges for all directors to attend the
annual general meeting and for the chairman of the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee to be
available to answer questions, if necessary. The Board ensures that sufficient contact is maintained with
major shareholders to understand issues and concerns.
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Principle 9: Relations with Shareholders and with the Market & Principle 10: Institutional Investors (continued)
Apart from the annual general meeting, the Company intends to continue with its active communication
strategy in the market and shall accordingly continue to communicate with its shareholders and the market
by way of the Annual Report and Financial Statements, by publishing its results on a six-monthly basis during
the year and through the directors’ statements published on a six-monthly basis, and by company
announcements to the market in general. During 2019, the Company also communicated to the market
through brokers on two occasions. The Company recognises the importance of maintaining a dialogue with
the market to ensure that its strategies and performance are well understood and disclosed to the market in
a timely manner.
The Company's website (http://www.medservenergy.com) also contains information about the Company
and its business which is a source of further information to the market.
In terms of the Companies Act, Cap 386 of the laws of Malta, any shareholder/s having 10% or more of the
issued share capital of the Company can call a general meeting. This is also reflected in Article 34 of the
Company’s Articles of Association.
Principle 11: Conflicts of Interest
The directors are aware that their primary responsibility is always to act in the interest of the Company and
its shareholders as a whole irrespective of who appointed them to the Board. Acting in the interest of the
Company includes an obligation to avoid conflicts of interest. In such instances, the Company has strict
policies in place which allow it to manage such conflicts, actual or potential, in the best interest of the
Company. Each director’s service contract contains provisions which require the director to:
a) ensure that his/her personal interests do not conflict with the interests of the Company;
b) not carry on, directly or indirectly, business in competition with the Company;
c) not make personal gains or profits from his post without the consent of the Company, or from
confidential information;
d) not use any property, information or opportunity of the Company for his own benefit or for the benefit
of any third party,
e) not obtain any benefit in connection with the exercise of his powers, except with the consent of the
Company in a general meeting.
Furthermore, any director that has a conflict (actual or potential) is required to disclose and record the
conflict in full and in time to the Board and is also precluded from participating in a discussion concerning
matters in such conflicted matters (unless the Board finds no objection to the presence of such Director).
Under no circumstance is the conflicted director, permitted to vote on the matter. This requirement is
reflected in A68.2 of the Company’s Articles of Association.
Principle 12: Corporate Social Responsibility
The Company places substantial importance on its corporate social responsibility to behave ethically and
contribute to economic development while improving the quality of life of the work force and their families
as well as of the local community and society at large.
The Company is fully aware of its obligation to preserving the environment and continues to implement
policies aimed at respecting the natural environment and to avoiding/ minimising pollution. During the year
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Principle 12: Corporate Social Responsibility (continued)
under review, the Company contributed to many initiatives supporting the environment, including the
participation in beach clean ups in Cyprus with a view to raising awareness of preserving our environment.
The Company also supported initiatives that increases the awareness of health issues in society by
participating in events as well as donating to various health awareness campaigns such as the Pink October,
Movember and Autism. Moreover, the Company sponsored events such as the Life Cycle Challenge as well
as encouraged its employees to participate in various sportive events such as marathons in order to maintain
their wellbeing.
The Company firmly believes in the contribution towards education by offering opportunities to young
individuals and to this end, the Company sponsored the enrolment of students to various technical courses
as well as on the job training to young marine cadets in Suriname. In addition, the Company sponsored the
Write Deal Association in order to raise public and political awareness on social and environmental issues
through its audio-visual productions and work.
The Company promotes open communication with its workforce, responsibility and personal development.
The Company maintains a staff development programme aimed at providing training to staff to assist their
development with an aim to improve the Company’s competitiveness.
The Company also provided donations to various charitable institutions and events such as the Orphanage
‘Elim of the Lord’, the Community Chest Fund and L-Istrina 2019.

Part 2: Non-Compliance with the Code
Principle 2 - Code Provision 2.3
Whilst steps have been taken by the Company to segregate the office of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
through the appointment of Mr Karl Bartolo as Chief Executive Officer of the Group, the Chairman of the
Company is not considered to meet the independence criteria set out in the Listing Rules largely due to
executive role within the Group (being responsible for strategy) and also being one of the major shareholders
of the Company . The Board considers that Mr Diacono duly fulfils the role required of a Chairman in terms
of the Listing Rules, notwithstanding his lack of formal independence.
Principle 6: Information and Professional Development
Code Provision 6.4.4 recommends that the CEO establishes a succession plan for senior management. Whilst
having identified successors for existing senior management within the existing staff complement, a formal
succession plan has not yet been formulated and implemented. The implementation of such a plan will be
considered during this financial year.
Principle 7 – Code Provision 7.1 Evaluation Committee
The Board has not appointed an ad hoc committee to evaluate its own performance. As set out above, the
evaluation was conducted through a questionnaire and considers this to be a process sufficient to evaluate
the performance of the board.
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Principle 8B (Nomination Committee)
Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association, the appointment of directors to the Board is reserved
exclusively to the Company’s shareholders (in line also with general and commonly accepted practice in
Malta). Any shareholder/s who in the aggregate hold not less than 0.5% of the total number of issued shares
having voting rights in the Company is entitled to nominate a fit and proper person for appointment as a
director of the Company. Furthermore, in terms of the memorandum and articles of association of the
Company, the directors themselves are entitled to make recommendations and nominations to the
shareholders for the appointment of directors at the next following annual general meeting.
Within this context, the Board believes that the setting up of a Nomination Committee is not required since
the Board itself has the authority to recommend and nominate directors. Notwithstanding this, the Board
will retain under review the issue relating to the setting up of a Nomination Committee.
Code Provision 9.3
The Company does not have a formal mechanism in place as required by Code provision 9.3 to resolve
conflicts between minority shareholders and controlling shareholders. No such conflicts have arisen to date
and in view of the relatively small shareholder base of the Company, the Board does not consider it necessary
to establish a formal mechanism for this process.
Internal Control
The Board is ultimately responsible for the Company's system of internal controls and for reviewing its
effectiveness. Such a system is designed to manage rather than eliminate risk to achieve business objectives,
and can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against normal business risks or loss. Included
with the Company’s internal control system are procedures to identify, control and report major risks within
a relevant timeframe. Financial reporting is prepared monthly and consolidated quarterly which performance
is analysed against budgets and shared with senior management and directors.
The Board reviews the effectiveness of the Company's system of internal controls. The Company strengthens
this function through the Audit Committee that has initiated a business risk monitoring plan, the
implementation of which is regularly monitored.
The key features of the Company’s system of internal control are as follows:
Organisation
The Company operates through the Chief Executive Officer with clear reporting lines and delegation of
powers. Whilst members of the senior management of the Group are in constant contact, formal
management meetings are scheduled on a monthly basis. They are attended by the Chief Executive Officer
and senior executive management and other members of staff, upon invitation.
Control environment
The Company is committed to the highest standards of business conduct and seeks to maintain these
standards across all of its operations. Company policies and employee procedures are in place for the
reporting and resolution of improper activities.
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Control environment (continued)
The Company has an appropriate organisational structure for planning, executing, controlling and monitoring
business operations in order to achieve Company objectives.
Company executives participate in periodic strategic reviews, which include consideration of long-term
projections and the evaluation of business alternatives. Annual budgets and strategic plans are prepared.
Performance against these plans is actively monitored and reported to the Board, at minimum on a quarterly
basis.
Risk identification
Company management is responsible for the identification and evaluation of key risks applicable to their
respective areas of business. The mandate of the Audit Committee and the Financial Risk Committee also
includes the continuous assessment and oversight of such key risks.
Internal Audit
The internal audit function provides independent and objective assurance in respect of adequacy of the
design and operating effectiveness of the Company’s framework of risk management and control processes
focusing on the areas of greatest risk to the Company using a risk-based approach.
General Meetings and Shareholders’ Rights
Conduct of general meetings
It is only shareholders whose details are entered into the register of members on the record date that are
entitled to participate in the general meeting and to exercise their voting rights. In terms of the Listing Rules,
the record date falls 30 days immediately preceding the date set for the general meeting to which it relates.
The establishment of a record date and the entitlement to attend and vote at general meeting does not,
however, prevent trading in the shares after the said date.
In order for business to be transacted at a general meeting, a quorum must be present. In terms of the Articles
of Association, 51% of the nominal value of the issued equity securities entitled to attend and vote at the
meeting constitutes a quorum. If within half an hour, a quorum is not present, the meeting shall stand
adjourned to the same day the next week, at the same time and place or to such other day and at such other
time and place as the directors may determine. In any event, the adjourned meeting must be held at least
ten days after the final convocation is issued and no new item must be put on the agenda of such adjourned
meeting. If at the adjourned meeting a quorum is not yet present within half an hour from the time appointed
for the meeting, the member or members present shall constitute a quorum. Generally, the Chairman of the
Board presides as Chairman at every general meeting of the Company. At the commencement of any general
meeting, the Chairman may, subject to applicable law, set the procedure which shall be adopted for the
proceedings of that meeting. Such procedure is binding on the members.
If the meeting consents or requires, the Chairman shall adjourn a quorate meeting to discuss the business
left unattended or unfinished. If a meeting is adjourned for 30 days or more, notice of the quorate meeting
must be given as in the case of an original meeting. Otherwise, it is not necessary to give any notice of an
adjourned meeting or of the business to be transacted at such quorate meeting.
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General Meetings and Shareholders’ Rights (continued)
Conduct of general meetings (continued)
At any general meeting, a resolution put to a vote shall be determined and decided by a show of hands,
unless a poll is demanded before or on the declaration of the result of a show of hands by;
(i)

the Chairman of the meeting; or

(ii)

by at least three (3) members present in person or by proxy; or

(iii)

any member or members present in person or by proxy and representing not less than one tenth of
the total voting power of all members having the right to vote at that meeting; or

(iv)

a member or members present in person or by proxy holding equity securities conferring a right to
vote at the meeting, being equity securities on which an aggregate sum has been paid up equal to not
less than one-tenth of the total sum paid up on all the equity securities conferring that right.

Unless a poll is so demanded, a declaration by the Chairman that a resolution has, on a show of hands, been
carried or carried unanimously, or by a particular majority, or lost together with an entry to that effect in the
minute book, shall constitute conclusive evidence of the fact without need for further proof. If a resolution
requires a particular majority in value, in order for the resolution to pass by a show of hands, there must be
present at that meeting a member or members holding in the aggregate at least the required majority. A poll
demanded on the election of the Chairman or on a question of adjournment shall be taken forthwith. A poll
demanded on any other question shall be taken at the discretion of the Chairman. In the case of equality of
votes, whether on a show of hands or on a poll, the chairman has a second or casting vote. On a show of
hands every member present in person or by proxy shall have one vote for each equity security carrying
voting rights of which he is the holder, provided that all calls or other sums presently payable by him in
respect of equity securities have been paid.
Proxy
Every member is entitled to appoint one person to act as proxy holder to attend and vote at a general meeting
instead of him. The proxy holder shall enjoy the same rights to participate in the general meeting as those to
which the member thus represented would be entitled. If a member is holding shares for and on behalf of
third parties, such member shall be entitled to grant a proxy to each of his clients or to any third party
designated by a client and the said member is entitled to cast votes attaching to some of the shares differently
from the others. In the case of voting by a show of hands, a proxy who has been mandated by several
members and instructed to vote by some shareholders in favour of a resolution and by others against the
same resolution shall have one vote for and one vote against the resolution. The instrument appointing a
proxy must be deposited at the office or by electronic mail at the address specified in the notice convening
the meeting not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time for holding the meeting or, in the case of a
poll, not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed for the taking of the poll. The same applies
to the revocation of the appointment of a proxy.
A form of instrument of proxy shall be in such form as may be determined by the directors and which would
allow a member appointing a proxy to indicate how he would like his proxy to vote in relation to each
resolution.
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General Meetings and Shareholders’ Rights (continued)
Proxy (continued)
Including items on the agenda
A shareholder or shareholders holding not less than 5% of the issued share capital may include items on the
agenda of the general meeting and table draft resolutions for items included on the agenda of a general
meeting. Such right must be exercised by the shareholder at least 46 days before the date set for the general
meeting to which it relates.
Questions
Shareholders have the right to ask questions which are pertinent and related to the items on the agenda.
Electronic voting
In terms of the Articles of Association of the Company, the directors may establish systems to:
a)
b)

allow persons entitled to attend and vote at general meetings of the Company to do so by electronic
means in accordance with the relevant provisions of the Listing Rules; and
allow for votes on a resolution on a poll to be cast in advance.

Where a shareholder requests the Company to publish a full account of a poll, the Company is required to
publish the information on its website not later than 15 days after the general meeting at which the result
was obtained.
Further details on the conduct of a general meeting and shareholders’ rights are contained in the
Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company and in line with chapter 12 of the Listing Rules.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors on 29 May 2020 by:

Joseph FX Zahra
Director and Member of Audit Committee
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1.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee oversees the development and implementation of the remuneration and
related policies of the Medserv group of companies.
During the year under review, the Committee was composed of Mr Joseph Zammit Tabona (Chairman), Mr
Joseph FX Zahra and Dr Laragh Cassar, all of whom are non-executive directors. Mr Joseph FX Zahra and Mr
Joseph Zammit Tabona are considered to be independent directors.
During 2019, the Remuneration Committee met once to discuss and set the salaries and bonuses for senior
management. All members were present.
2.

Remuneration Policies

2.1

Remuneration Policy - Directors

The Board is composed of Executive and Non-Executive Directors. The Board determines the framework of
the remuneration policy for the members of the Board as a whole, based on the recommendations from the
Remuneration Committee. The maximum annual aggregate emoluments that may be paid to the directors is
approved by the shareholders in General Meeting. The Board may approve changes to the fees within the
aggregate amount approved by Shareholders at the Annual General Meeting. The total fees paid to directors
(in their role as director) is entirely represented by a fixed remuneration.
Directors’ emoluments are designed to reflect the directors’ knowledge of the business and time committed
as directors to the Company’s affairs.
It is confirmed that none of the Directors in their capacity as Directors of the Company are entitled to profit
sharing, share options, pension benefits, variable remuneration or any other remuneration or related
payments from the Company.
In accordance with the recently introduced Listing rules 12.26A, the Company is required to establish a
‘remuneration policy as regards directors’ and to grant the right to shareholders to vote on the remuneration
policy at the Annual General Meeting (AGM). The amendments to the Listing Rules also require the Company
to draw up a remuneration report in accordance with the ‘remuneration policy as regards directors’ and with
the criteria in Appendix 12.1 ‘Information to be provided in the Remuneration Report ’ of the said Listing
Rules. As a result, the Company will be requesting a vote in respect of the ‘remuneration policy as regards
directors’ at the forthcoming AGM. Subsequent to this the Company will update the remuneration report to
ensure conformity with the new requirements within the Listing Rules.
2.2

Remuneration Policy – Senior Executives

The Board determines the framework of the overall remuneration policy and individual remuneration
arrangements for its senior executives based on the recommendations from the Remuneration Committee.
The Committee considers that these remuneration packages, inclusive of a variable and non-variable
payment, reflect market conditions and are designed to attract appropriate quality executives to ensure the
efficient management of the Company.
The payment of a variable remuneration has become increasingly important in attracting and maintaining
quality staff. During the current year under review, there have been no significant changes in the Company’s
remuneration policy and no significant changes are intended to be effected thereto in the year ahead.
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2.

Remuneration Policies (continued)

2.2

Remuneration Policy – Senior Executives (continued)

The terms and conditions of employment of each individual within the executive team are set out in their
respective contracts of employment with the Company. The vast majority of the contracts of employment
are made on an indefinite basis however there are a number of such contracts entered into on a definite
fixed term basis due to the nature of the job in question. The Company’s senior executives may be paid a
bonus by the Company – other than the bonus paid to the CEO, the payment and extent of payment of all
bonuses paid to senior executives is entirely at the discretion of the Board, is subject to the recommendation
of the Committee and is based upon the performance of the individual determined in terms of both objective
as well as subjective criteria. The Chief Executive Officer of the Company is entitled to a performance bonus
calculated by reference to the Company’s earnings over a specified threshold. Moreover, share options are
currently not part of the Company’s remuneration policy. Specific criteria for determining the extent of senior
executive’s entitlement to a bonus will be formulated by the Remuneration Committee in due course.
3.

2019 Remuneration

3.1

2019 Directors Remuneration

During the year, Directors received fees, in their capacity solely as directors, as follows:

Anthony S. Diacono
Anthony J. Duncan
Joseph FX Zahra
Joseph Zammit Tabona
Laragh Cassar
Godwin Borg (resigned on 2nd July 2019)
Total

€18,000
€18,000
€18,000
€18,000
€18,000
€9,000
*€99,000

* This amount is within the limit of €450,000 approved by the Annual General Meeting of 15 May 2014

3.2

2019 Senior Executives Remuneration

The total emoluments received by senior executives of the Group for the year 2019 amount to €1,558,886.

Joseph Zammit Tabona
Chairman, Remuneration Committee
29 May 2020
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Medserv p.l.c.
Statements of Financial Position
As at 31 December 2019

The Group
2019

ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets and goodwill
Contract costs
Investments in subsidiaries
Equity-accounted investees
Loans receivables from
subsidiaries
Right-of-use assets
Deferred tax assets

Total current assets
Total assets

The Company
2019

2018

Note

€

€

€

€

13
16
6
14
15

31,472,005
11,751,165
368,245
300

33,200,767
13,162,169
636,158
-

20,227,905
300

13,418,743
-

19
29
17

75,847,997
8,303,235

78,335,057
9,418,544

43,550,676
-

49,262,955
-

127,742,947

134,752,695

63,778,881

62,681,698

1,382,852
106,952
17,783,902
318,080
1,607,674
5,742,979

1,274,704
755
14,730,612
334,299
67,775
5,616,232

26,257
14,225

755
12,049,301
15,916

26,942,439

22,024,377

40,482

12,065,972

154,685,386

156,777,072

63,819,363

74,747,670

Total non-current assets

Inventories
Current tax assets
Trade and other receivables
Contract costs
Contract assets
Cash at bank and in hand

2018

18
19
6
27

1
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Statements of Financial Position (continued)
As at 31 December 2019

The Group
2019

2018

The Company
2019

2018

Note

€

€

€

€

20
20
20
20

5,374,441
12,003,829
(12,438,608)
9,828,570

5,374,441
12,003,829
(8,215,519)
10,186,890

5,374,441
12,003,829
(4,457,372)
-

5,374,441
12,003,829
(695,423)
-

Equity attributable to
owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

14,768,232
(680,015)

19,349,641
(652,926)

12,920,898
-

16,682,847
-

Total equity

14,088,217

18,696,715

12,920,898

16,682,847

52,792,390
959,789
31,071,722
29,171,115
1,859,910
6,222,821

54,028,322
819,163
31,851,634
28,682,854
6,485,536

50,343,740
-

50,053,057
-

122,077,747

121,867,509

50,343,740

50,053,057

5,117,977
15,915
2,145,528
9,078,996
11,682
775,533
1,373,791
-

3,209,219
2,075,411
8,145,393
37,176
875,533
1,825,925
44,191

554,226
499
-

8,011,766
-

18,519,422

16,212,848

554,725

8,011,766

Total liabilities

140,597,169

138,080,357

50,898,465

58,064,823

Total equity and liabilities

154,685,386

156,777,072

63,819,363

74,747,670

EQUITY
Share capital
Share premium
Accumulated losses
Other reserves

LIABILITIES
Loans and borrowings
Employee benefits
Deferred income
Lease liabilities
Trade and other payables
Deferred tax liabilities

23
25
22
29
26
17

Total non-current liabilities

Bank overdraft
Employee benefits
Loans and borrowings
Trade and other payables
Current tax liabilities
Deferred income
Lease liabilities
Provisions
Total current liabilities

23/27
25
23
26
22
29
24

The notes on pages 10 to 97 are an integral part of these financial statements.
The financial statements on pages 1 to 97 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors
on 29 May 2020 and signed on its behalf by:

Anthony S Diacono
Chairman

Dr. Laragh Cassar
Company Secretary
2
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Statements of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
For the Year Ended 31 December 2019

The Group
2019

2018

The Company
2019

2018

Note

€

€

€

€

6
8

68,729,751
(59,391,709)

36,187,199
(33,639,893)

-

-

9,338,042

2,547,306

-

-

7
8

1,375,505
(7,512,526)

2,049,613
(6,067,853)

(3,787,218)

(363,773)

28
7

(69,452)
(43,525)

(122,645)
(1,867,867)

-

69,454
-

3,088,044

(3,461,446)

(3,787,218)

(294,319)

CONTINUING OPERATIONS

Revenue
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Other income
Administrative expenses
Reversal of/ (impairment loss) on
financial assets
Other expenses
Operating profit/(loss)
Finance income
Finance costs

10
10

51,075
(5,692,506)

9
(5,369,907)

3,155,218
(3,129,802)

3,275,220
(3,103,843)

Net finance (costs)/income

10

(5,641,431)

(5,369,898)

25,416

171,377

Loss before income tax
Tax expense

11

(2,553,387)
(807,596)

(8,831,344)
(695,550)

(3,761,802)
(147)

(122,942)
(147)

Loss from continuing operations
Discontinued operation
Profit from discontinued operations,
net of tax

(3,360,983)

(9,526,894)

(3,761,949)

(123,089)

27,719

-

-

-

Loss for the year

(3,333,264)

(9,526,894)

(3,761,949)

(123,089)

20

(160,278)

(487,867)

-

-

20

82,311

1,187,253

-

-

Other comprehensive income

(77,967)

699,386

-

-

Total comprehensive income

(3,411,231)

(8,827,508)

(3,761,949)

(123,089)

Other comprehensive income
Items that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss:
Net loss on hedge of net
investment in a foreign operation
Foreign currency translation
differences – foreign operations

3
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Statements of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income (continued)
For the Year Ended 31 December 2019

The Group
2019
Note
Loss attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive income
attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

2018

The Company
2019

2018

€

€

€

€

(2,924,594)
(408,670)

(9,043,058)
(483,836)

(3,761,949)
-

(123,089)
-

(3,333,264)

(9,526,894)

(3,761,949)

(123,089)

(2,977,156)
(434,075)

(8,317,828)
(509,680)

(3,761,949)
-

(123,089)
-

(3,411,231)

(8,827,508)

(3,761,949)

(123,089)

Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share

21

(5c4)

(16c8)

(7c0)

(0c2)

Adjusted earnings before interest,
tax, depreciation and amortisation
(adjusted EBITDA)

12

12,718,683

7,318,591

-

-

The notes on pages 10 to 97 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Changes in Equity – The Group
For the Year Ended 31 December 2019

Attributable to owners of the Company

Balance at 1 January 2018
as previously reported
Adjustment on initial
application of IFRS 9, net
of tax
Adjusted balance at 1
January 2018
Total comprehensive
income
Loss
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive
income
Transactions with
owners of the Company
Change in ownership
interest
Dilution of non-controlling
interest without a change in
control
Transfers between reserves
Balance at 31 December 2018

Total

Noncontrolling
interest

Total
equity

€

€

€

€

354,734

1,151,793

28,250,706

(151,958)

28,098,748

-

-

(583,237)

(583,237)

-

(583,237)

(1,656,630)

11,022,539

354,734

568,556

27,667,469

(151,958)

27,515,511

-

1,213,097

-

(487,867)

(9,043,058)
-

(9,043,058)
725,230

(483,836)
(25,844)

(9,526,894)
699,386

-

-

1,213,097

-

(487,867)

(9,043,058)

(8,317,828)

(509,680)

(8,827,508)

5,374,441

12,003,829

(443,533)

(258,983)
10,763,556

(133,133)

258,983
(8,215,519)

19,349,641

8,712
(652,926)

8,712
18,696,715

Share
capital

Share
premium

Translation
reserve

Revaluation
reserve

Hedging
reserve

Retained
earnings

€

€

€

€

€

5,374,441

12,003,829

(1,656,630)

11,022,539

-

-

-

5,374,441

12,003,829

-
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Statement of Changes in Equity – The Group
For the Year Ended 31 December 2019

Attributable to owners of the Company

Total

Noncontrolling
interest

Total
equity

€

€

€

€

(133,133)

(8,215,519)

19,349,641

(652,926)

18,696,715

-

-

(2,924,594)

(2,924,594)

(408,670)

(3,333,264)

107,716

-

(160,278)

-

(52,562)

(25,405)

(77,967)

-

107,716

-

(160,278)

(2,924,594)

(2,977,156)

(434,075)

(3,411,231)

-

-

-

(258,983)

-

258,983

-

-

-

-

-

(46,775)

-

-

(1,557,478)

(1,604,253)

406,986

(1,197,267)

-

-

(46,775)

(258,983)

-

(1,298,495)

(1,604,253)

406,986

(1,197,267)

5,374,441

12,003,829

(382,592)

10,504,573

(293,411)

(12,438,608)

14,768,232

(680,015)

14,088,217

Share
capital

Share
premium

Translation
reserve

Revaluation
reserve

Hedging
reserve

Retained
earnings

€

€

€

€

€

5,374,441

12,003,829

(443,533)

10,763,556

Total comprehensive income
Loss

-

-

-

Other comprehensive income

-

-

Total comprehensive income

-

Balance at 1 January 2019

Transactions with owners of the
Company
Change in ownership interest
Transfers between reserves
Acquisition of non-controlling interest
without a change in control
Total transactions with owners of the
Company

Balance at 31 December 2019

The notes on pages 10 to 97 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Changes in Equity – The Company
For the Year Ended 31 December 2019

Share
capital

Share
premium

Retained
earnings

Total
equity

€

€

€

€

5,374,441

12,003,829

(465,330)

16,912,940

5,374,441

12,003,829

(107,000)
(572,330)

(107,000)
16,805,940

-

-

(123,093)

(123,093)

Balance at 31 December 2018

5,374,441

12,003,829

(695,423)

16,682,847

Balance at 1 January 2019

5,374,441

12,003,829

(695,423)

16,682,847

-

-

(3,761,949)

(3,761,949)

5,374,441

12,003,829

(4,457,372)

12,920,898

Balance at 1 January 2018
Adjustment on initial application of IFRS 9,
net of tax
Adjusted balance at 1 January 2018
Total comprehensive income
Loss

Total comprehensive income
Loss
Balance at 31 December 2019

The notes on pages 10 to 97 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statements of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended 31 December 2019

The Group
2019
Note
Cash flows from operating activities
Loss for the year
Adjustments for:
Depreciation
Reversal of deferred income
Loss/(gain) on lease modification
Amortisation of intangible assets
Amortisation of signing bonus
Impairment losses on trade
receivables, contract assets
and related party receivables
Impairment losses on property, plant
and machinery
Tax expense
Exchange differences
Provision for discounted future
gratuity payments
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Net finance costs/(income)
Reversal of provision
Impairment loss on amounts owed by
subsidiaries
(Reversal of) /impairment losses on
investments in subsidiaries

Change in inventories
Change in trade and other receivables
Change in trade and other payables
Change in related party balances
Change in provisions and employee
benefits

2018

The Company
2019

2018

€

€

€

€

(3,333,264)

(9,526,894)

(3,761,949)

(123,092)

7,839,572
(884,219)
43,525
1,472,987
318,080

7,874,693
(875,533)
(342,131)
1,472,987
450,613

-

-

69,452

122,245

-

(69,454)

807,596
(332,799)

1,598,906
695,550
154,896

147
-

147
-

15,915

1,716

-

-

(23,117)
5,641,431
(39,078)

268,961
5,369,907
-

(25,416)
-

(171,377)
-

-

-

3,228,135

-

-

-

-

(11,647)

11,596,081
(108,148)
(3,053,290)
933,402
-

7,265,916
(26,760)
(504,768)
2,481,527
-

(559,083)
(89,626)
831,225

(375,423)
94,201
31,400

(112,350)

(486,471)

-

-

9,255,695
795,807
1,457
1,107

8,729,444
146,947
1,946
(39,271)

182,516
1,107

(249,822)
1,810

10,054,066

8,839,066

183,623

(248,012)

Cash generated from/ (absorbed by)
operating activities
Bank interest paid
Bank interest received
Tax paid
Net cash from/ (used in) operating
activities carried forward
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Statements of Cash Flows (continued)
For the Year Ended 31 December 2019

The Group
2019
Note
Net cash from/(used in) operating
activities carried forward

2018

The Company
2019
2018

€

€

€

€

10,054,066

8,839,066

183,623

(248,012)

-

-

-

(300,000)

Cash flows from investing activities
Advances to subsidiaries
Receipts from disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Acquisition of property, plant and
equipment
Investment in associate
Bank interest received
Interest received from subsidiaries

(236,218)

327,108

-

-

(1,459,712)
(300)
6,217
-

(6,883,846)
9
-

(300)
21
2,465,988

9
2,485,503

Net cash (used in)/from investing
activities

(1,690,013)

(6,556,729)

2,465,709

2,185,512

Cash flows from financing activities
Loan advanced by bank
Repayments of bank loans
Interest paid on bank loans
Interest paid on notes
Payment of lease liabilities

(2,253,039)
(795,807)
(2,651,023)
(4,136,489)

5,101,502
(1,463,019)
(146,948)
(2,650,626)
(3,187,177)

(2,651,023)
-

(2,626,493)
-

Net cash used in financing activities

(9,836,358)

(2,346,268)

(2,651,023)

(2,626,493)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents

(1,472,305)

(63,931)

(1,691)

(688,993)

2,407,013

2,768,680

15,916

704,909

28.4

(282,812)
(26,894)

(297,736)
-

-

-

27

625,002

2,407,013

14,225

15,916

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on
cash held
ECL allowance on cash at bank
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

The notes on pages 10 to 97 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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1

Reporting entity
Medserv p.l.c. (the “Company”) is a public liability company domiciled and incorporated in Malta.
The principal activity of the Company is that of a holding company (see note 14).
The consolidated financial statements of the Company as at and for the year ended 31 December
2019 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group” and
individually as “Group entities”). The Group is primarily involved in providing integrated shore base
logistics to the offshore oil and gas market operating mainly in the Mediterranean basin and South
America and integrated oil country tubular goods (OCTG) services to the onshore oil and gas market
operating in the Middle East.

2

Basis of preparation

2.1

Statement of compliance
The consolidated and separate financial statements (the “financial statements”) have been
prepared and presented in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted
by the EU. All references in these financial statements to IAS, IFRS or SIC / IFRIC interpretations
refer to those adopted by the EU. These financial statements have also been drawn up in
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 1995 (Chapter 386, Laws of Malta) (the
“Act”).
Article 4 of Regulation 1606/2002/EC requires that, for each financial year starting on or after 1
January 2005, companies governed by the law of an EU Member State shall prepare their
consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS as adopted by the EU if, at their reporting
date, their securities are admitted to trading on a regulated market of any EU Member State.
Details of the Group’s accounting policies are included in Note 3.
Going Concern
During the financial reporting period ended 31 December 2019, the Group registered operating
results that were consistent with the budgets set across the group. With spending returning by the
IOCs on the back of stronger oil prices, year 2019 was characterised by an upward trajectory in the
global oil and gas upstream sector. This translated in continued improvement in Group’s results.
The year 2019 was marked with a number of value propositions which have increased the
underlying values of the Group’s contracts, as well as unlocking new opportunities in its operating
segments.
Although the Group sustained a loss after tax sustained for the year amounting to €3.3 million
(2018: €9.5 million), it reported a positive adjusted EBITDA (note x) of €12.7 million (2018: €7.3
million) and generated operating cash inflows of €10.1 million (2018: €8.8 million). The Group’s net
asset value amounted to €14.1 million (2018: €18.7 million) and it had positive working capital
amounting to €8,423,220.
The Company, which primarily acts as a funding vehicle for the Group, sustained a loss for the year
amounting to €2.6 million (2018: €123k),had a net asset value of €13 million and had a positive
working capital of €395,916 (2018: €4,054,206).
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2

Basis of preparation (continued)

2.1

Statement of compliance (continued)
The impact of COVID-19 pandemic which broke out after the reporting date has disrupted the
global economy, which in turn negatively impacted the performance of the Group’s operations. At
the same time, since the start of 2020, the oil and gas industry has been significantly affected by
the macro-economic uncertainty with regards to prices and demand levels for hydrocarbons as a
result of the COVID-19 pandemic.
Despite the operational challenges presented by COVID-19, the Group entities have remained
operational and continued to service their customers. No projects undertaken by the Group’s
customers have been cancelled. Nonetheless, a number of such projects were postponed. In
addition, it is expected that the Company’s customers would be impacted by the macro-economic
uncertainty in the oil and gas industry.
The scale and duration of the COVID-19 pandemic and its impact on the Group remains uncertain;
however, this is expected to negatively impact the Group entities’ earnings and cash flows until the
situation returns to normal. Additionally, these developments could also have an impact on the
Company, as the latter, having no operating revenue, depends on cash inflows from the Group.
During this period, the Group intends to continue to take appropriate measures to preserve
liquidity and reduce its losses, with a view of continuing to register positive EBITDA and positive
operating cash inflows across all territories. In this respect, management has prepared profit and
cash flow forecasts under stressed COVID-19 scenarios covering the period up to December 2023
to assess the Group’s liquidity position on a monthly basis across all components of the Group. In
preparing these projections, management has applied reasonably possible significant haircuts to
contracted and pipeline revenue; and has also assumed postponement in the timing of delivery of
services provided as a result of customers delays. The following mitigating actions have been built
into management’s profit and cash flow forecasts:
•

The management team is taking actions to ensure that its Group entities’ operations remain
ongoing, with the lowest possible disruptions, through its business continuity plan across all
the jurisdictions in which the Group is present;

•

Immediate measures are being adopted across the Group to reduce costs. The Company has
taken action to adapt its cost base through lower operating costs. This considering that a
significant element of the Group’s cost base relates to wages and salaries;

•

The Group is, since May 2020, availing itself from a six-month moratorium on its bank loans.
Additionally, the Group renegotiated favourable terms with a number of its major suppliers.
In the meantime, the Group has stepped up its credit management actions to shore up
liquidity;

•

The Group’s ability to continue as a going concern is also dependent on management’s ability
to identify additional sources of financing sufficient to fund ongoing operating expenses and
commitments. As at the date of authorisation for issue of these financial statements, the
Group’s cash reserves, unutilised bank overdraft facilities and undrawn bank loans totalled to
approximately €7.9 million. There are no restrictions on the ability of the parent entity to move
cash around the Group.
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2

Basis of preparation (continued)

2.1

Statement of compliance (continued)
In the event that customers do not settle their dues in a timely fashion and/or projects undertaken
by customers are unduly delayed due to COVID-19 pandemic, the Group may be unable to secure
the required additional financing. These circumstances represent a material uncertainty that may
cast significant doubt on the Group and Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and,
therefore, to realise its assets and discharging its liabilities in the normal course of business. The
financial statements do not include any adjustments that could result should such scenario
materialise.
On the basis of its projections, management determined that the Group and the Company should
have sufficient liquidity throughout the period covered by the forecasts. Based on this scenario,
but fully cognisant of the risks emanating from the COVID-19 pandemic outlined in this Note, and
also considering the mitigating measures being taken by management as described above, the
directors believe that it remains appropriate to prepare the financial statements on a going concern
basis.

2.2

Basis of measurement
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for right-of-use
assets which are measured at revalued amounts.

2.3

Functional and presentation currency
These financial statements are presented in euro (€), which is the Company’s functional currency.

2.4

Use of estimates and judgements
In preparing these financial statements, management has made judgements and estimates that
affect the application of Group’s accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised prospectively.
Information about judgements made in applying accounting policies that have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements and information about assumptions
and estimation uncertainties at 31 December 2019 that have a significant risk of resulting in a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the next financial year is
included in the following notes:
-

-

-

Note 13 and 29 – impairment test of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
of Company’s subsidiaries (i)Middle East Tubular Services Limited, (ii) Middle East Tubular
Services L.L.C. (FZC) and (iii) Middle East Tubular Services (Iraq) Limited: key assumptions
underlying recoverable amounts;
Note 14 and Note 19 – impairment test of investments in and loans receivable from Medserv
M.E. Limited and Medserv Eastern Mediterranean Limited: key assumptions underlying
recoverable amounts;
Note 16 – impairment test of goodwill: key assumptions underlying recoverable amount; and
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-

Note 17 – recognition of deferred tax assets: availability of future taxable profit against which
investment tax credits can be utilised.

3

Significant accounting policies

3.1

Basis of consolidation

3.1.1

Business combinations
The Group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method when control is
transferred to the Group (see note 3.1.2). The consideration transferred in the acquisition is
generally measured at fair value, as are the identifiable net assets acquired. Any goodwill that
arises is tested annually for impairment (see note 3.9). Any gain on a bargain purchase is
recognised in profit or loss immediately. Transactions costs are expensed as incurred, except if
related to the issue of debt or equity securities.
The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing
relationships. Such amounts are generally recognised in profit or loss.

3.1.2

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed
to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are
included in the consolidated financial statements from the date on which control commences until
the date on which control ceases.

3.1.3

Non-controlling interests
NCI are measured initially at their proportionate share of the acquiree's identifiable net assets at
the date of acquisition.
Changes in the Group's interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted
for as equity transactions.

3.1.4

Loss of control
When the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets and liabilities of the
subsidiary, and any related non-controlling interest and other components of equity. Any resulting
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in the former subsidiary is
measured at fair value when control is lost.

3.1.5

Interests in joint venture
A joint venture is an arrangement in which the Group has joint control, whereby the Group has
rights to the net assets of the arrangement, rather than rights to its assets and obligations for its
liabilities.
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3

Significant accounting policies (continued)

3.1

Basis of consolidation (continued)

3.1.5

Interests in joint venture (continued)
Interests in the joint venture are accounted for using the equity method. They are initially
recognised at cost, which includes transactions costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, the
consolidated financial statements include the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other
comprehensive income (OCI) of joint ventures, until the date on which joint control ceases.

3.1.6

Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intragroup transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised
gains arising from transactions with the joint ventures are eliminated against the investment to the
extent of the Group’s interest in the joint ventures. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same
way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

3.2

Foreign currency

3.2.1

Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group
entities at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional
currency at the exchange rate at the reporting date.
The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between amortised cost in
the functional currency at the beginning of the period, adjusted for effective interest and payments
during the period, and the amortised cost in foreign currency translated at the exchange rate at
the end of the reporting period.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated into the functional currency at the exchange rate when the fair value was determined.
Non-monetary items that are measured based on historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
at the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency differences are generally
recognised in profit or loss.
However, foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the following items are
recognised in OCI:
• financial liabilities denominated in USD and designated as a hedge of the net investment in a
foreign operation to the extent that the hedge is effective (see note 3.2.4); and
• qualifying cash flow hedges to the extent the hedges are effective (see note 3.3.5).
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3

Significant accounting policies (continued)

3.2

Foreign currency (continued)

3.2.2

Foreign operations
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising
on acquisition, are translated to the functional currency at exchange rates at the reporting date.
The income and expenses of foreign operations are translated to the functional currency at
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising
on acquisition, are translated to the functional currency at exchange rates at the reporting date.
The income and expenses of foreign operations are translated to the functional currency at
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.
Foreign currency differences are recognised in OCI and presented within equity in the translation
reserve, except to the extent that the translation difference is allocated to NCI. However, if the
operation is a non-wholly owned subsidiary then the relevant proportion of the translation
difference is allocated to non-controlling interests. When a foreign operation is disposed of in its
entirety or partially such that control, significant influence or joint control is lost, the cumulative
amount in the translation reserve related to that foreign operation is reclassified to profit or loss
as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

3.2.3

Hedge accounting
The Group designates certain non-derivative financial instruments as hedging instruments in
qualifying hedging relationships. On initial designation of the hedge, the Group formally documents
the relationship between the hedging instrument(s) and hedged item(s), including the risk
management objective and strategy in undertaking the hedge, together with the method that will
be used to assess the effectiveness of the hedging relationship. The Group makes an assessment,
both at inception of the hedge relationship and on an ongoing basis, of whether the hedging
instruments are expected to be highly effective in offsetting the changes in the fair value or cash
flows of the respective hedged item(s) during the period for which the hedge is designated, and
whether the actual results of each hedge are within a range of 80–125%.

3.2.4

Hedge of a net investment in foreign operation
When a non-derivative financial liability is designated as the hedging instrument in a hedge of a
net investment in a foreign operation, the effective portion of changes in the fair value of the
hedging instrument is recognised in OCI and presented in the translation reserve within equity. Any
ineffective portion of the changes in the fair value of the derivative is recognised immediately in
profit or loss. The amount recognised in OCI is reclassified to profit or loss as a reclassification
adjustment on disposal of the foreign operation.
Net investment hedges
When a derivative instrument or a non-derivative financial liability is designated as the hedging
instrument in a hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation, the effective portion of, for a
derivative, changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument or, for a non-derivative, foreign
exchange gains and losses is recognised in OCI and presented in the translation reserve within
equity. Any ineffective portion of the changes in the fair value of the derivative or foreign exchange
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3

Significant accounting policies (continued)

3.2.4

Hedge of a net investment in foreign operation (continued)
gains and losses on the non-derivative are recognised immediately in profit or loss. The amount
recognised in OCI is reclassified to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment on disposal of the
foreign operation.

3.2.5

Foreign currency gains and losses
Foreign currency gains and losses relating to operating activities and recognised in profit or loss
and reported on a net basis as either “other income” or “other expenses” depending on whether
foreign currency movement is in a net gain or net loss position. Other non-operating foreign
currency gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss are reported on a net basis as either
“finance income” or “finance costs” depending on whether foreign currency movement is in a net
gain or net loss position.

3.3

Financial instruments

3.3.1

Recognition and initial measurement
Trade receivables are initially recognised when they are originated. All other financial assets and
financial liabilities are initially recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.
A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component) or
financial liability is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not at FVTPL, transaction costs
are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade receivable without a significant financing
component is initially measured at the transaction price.

3.3.2

Classification and subsequent measurement

3.3.2.1 Financial assets
On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised cost; FVOCI – debt
investment; FVOCI – equity investment; or FVTPL.
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group changes
its business model for managing financial assets, in which case all affected financial assets are
reclassified on the first day of the first reporting period following the change in the business model.
A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions
and is not designated as at FVTPL:

•
•

it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual
cash flows; and
its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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3

Significant accounting policies (continued)

3.3

Financial instruments (continued)

3.3.2

Classification and subsequent measurement

3.3.2.1 Financial assets (continued)

A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions and is not
designated as at FVTPL:

•
•

it is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and
its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI as described above are
measured at FVTPL. On initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL
if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.
3.3.2.2 Financial assets – Business model assessment
The Group makes an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial asset
is held at a portfolio level because this best reflects the way the business is managed and
information is provided to management. The information considered includes:

•

•
•
•

the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in
practice. These include whether management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual
interest income, maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of
the financial assets to the duration of any related liabilities or expected cash outflows or
realising cash flows through the sale of the assets;
how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Group’s
management;
the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held
within that business model) and how those risks are managed; and
the frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets in prior periods, the reasons
for such sales and expectations about future sales activity.

3.3.2.3 Financial assets – Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and
interest
For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on
initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the
credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and
for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as a profit
margin.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

3.3

Financial instruments (continued)

3.3.2.3 Financial assets – Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and
interest (continued)
lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as a profit margin.
In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the
Group considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the
financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual
cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers:

•
•
•
•

contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows;
terms that may adjust the contractual coupon rate, including variable-rate features;
prepayment and extension features; and
terms that limit the Group’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse
features).

A prepayment feature is consistent with the solely payments of principal and interest criterion if
the prepayment amount substantially represents unpaid amounts of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding, which may include reasonable additional compensation for early
termination of the contract. Additionally, for a financial asset acquired at a discount or premium to
its contractual par amount, a feature that permits or requires prepayment at an amount that
substantially represents the contractual par amount plus accrued (but unpaid) contractual interest
(which may also include reasonable additional compensation for early termination) is treated as
consistent with this criterion if the fair value of the prepayment feature is insignificant at initial
recognition.

3.3.2.4 Financial assets – Subsequent measurement and gains and losses
For financial assets at amortised cost, these assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method. The amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest
income, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain
or loss on derecognition is also recognised in profit or loss.
The Company’s financial assets comprise loans to subsidiaries, cash and cash equivalents and trade
and other receivables. The Group’s financial assets comprise cash and cash equivalents, trade and
other receivables and contract assets.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

3.3

Financial instruments (continued)

3.3.3

Derecognition
Financial assets
The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the
financial asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction
in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred
or in which the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of
ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset.
Financial liabilities
The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or
cancelled, or expire. The Group also derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified
and the cash flows of the modified liability are substantially different, in which case a new financial
liability based on the modified terms is recognised at fair value.
On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount extinguished
and the consideration paid (including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed) is
recognised in profit or loss.

3.3.4

Offsetting
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement
of financial position when, and only when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to
set off the amounts and it intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously.

3.4

Share capital
Share capital consists of ordinary shares that are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any
tax effects.

3.5

Property, plant and equipment

3.5.1

Recognition and measurement
Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

3.5

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

3.5.1

Recognition and measurement (continued)

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of
self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly
attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition for their intended use, the costs of
dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located, and
capitalised borrowing costs. Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related
equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment.
When significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they
are accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.
Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined by
comparing the proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of the property, plant and
equipment and is recognised net within “other income” or “other expenses” in profit or loss.
3.5.2

Subsequent costs
The cost of replacing a component of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in
the carrying amount of the item, if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within
the component will flow to the Group and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount
of the replaced part is derecognised. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and
equipment are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

3.5.3

Depreciation
Deprecation is based on the cost of an asset less its residual value. Significant components of
individual assets are assessed and if a component has a useful life that is different from the
remainder of that asset, that component is depreciated separately.
Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives
of each component of an item of property, plant and equipment. Property developed and related
improvements made on leased land are depreciated over the shorter of the land’s lease term and
the useful lives of the building and improvements unless it is reasonably certain that the Group will
obtain ownership of the land by the end of the lease term. Depreciation commences when the
item is available for use.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

3.5

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

3.5.3

Depreciation (continued)
The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows:

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

buildings and base improvements
furniture and fittings
office and computer equipment
plant and equipment
motor vehicles
cargo carrying units
photovoltaic farm

2019
years
3 – 42
10
5
6 - 15
4
10
20

2018
years
3 – 42
10
5
8
4
10
20

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year-end and
adjusted if appropriate. See note 13.6.
3.6

Intangible assets and goodwill

3.6.1

Recognition and measurement
Intangible assets include customer relationships, licenses, brand and contractual rights that are
acquired by the Group and have finite useful lives. Intangible assets acquired as part of a business
combination are measured at fair value at the date of acquisition less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill arising from a business combination is allocated to CGUs or groups of CGUs that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Goodwill that arises upon the
acquisition of subsidiaries represents the excess of the cost of the acquisition over the Group’s
interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the
acquiree. When the excess is negative, it is recognised immediately in profit or loss. Subsequent to
initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

3.6.2

Subsequent costs
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits
embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure, including expenditure on
internally generated goodwill and brands, is recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

3.6.3

Amortisation
Amortisation is calculated to write off the cost of the intangible assets less their estimated residual
values using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives and is generally recognised
in profit or loss. Goodwill is not amortised.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

3.6

Intangible assets and goodwill (continued)

3.6.3

Amortisation (continued)
The estimated useful lives for the current period are as follows:

• customer relationships
• licences
• brand

10 years
10 years
10 years

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and
adjusted if appropriate.
3.7

Leases
At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract
is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for
a period of time in exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset, the Group assess whether:
•

•
•

the contract involves the use of an identified asset – this may be specified explicitly or implicitly
and should be physically distinct or represent substantially all of the capacity of a physically
distinct asset. If the supplier has a substantive substitution right, then the asset is not
identified;
the Group has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from the use of the
asset throughout the period of use; and
the Group has the right to direct the use of the asset. The Group has the right when it has the
decision-making rights that are most relevant to changing how and for what purpose the asset
is used. In rare cases where the decision about how and for what purpose the asset is used is
predetermined:
-

the Group has the right to operate the asset; or

-

the Group designed the asset in a way that predetermines how and for what purpose it
will be used.

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains a lease component, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of their relative stand-alone
prices.
3.7.1

As a lessee
The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date.
The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease
liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any
direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to
restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

3.7

Leases (continued)

3.7.1

As a lessee (continued)
The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the
commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end
of the lease term. The estimated useful lives of the right-of–use assets varies between 3 and 42
years. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any,
adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability.
Subsequent to initial recognition, right-of-use assets that convey to the lessee rights over the use
of land are revalued periodically, such that its carrying amount does not differ materially from that
which would be determined using the fair value at the date of the statement of financial position.
Any surpluses arising on revaluation are accounted for in terms of IAS 16 Property, Plant and
Equipment, and thus credited to a revaluation reserve. Any deficiencies from decrease in value are
deducted from this reserve to the extent that it is sufficient to absorb them, with any excess
charged to profit or loss.
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid
at the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate
cannot be readily determined, the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Group uses
its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate.
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:
•
•
•
•

fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments;
variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the
index or rate as at the commencement date;
amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and
the exercise price under a purchase option that the Group is reasonably certain to exercise,
lease payments in an optional renewal period if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise
an extension option, and penalties for early termination of a lease unless the Group is
reasonably certain not to terminate early.

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is
remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or
rate, if there is a change in the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a
residual value guarantee, or if the Group changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a
purchase, extension or termination option.
When the lease liability is measured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the rightof-use asset has been reduced to zero.
The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition of investment property, and
lease liabilities, separately in the statement of financial position.
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3.8

Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories is
based on the first-in, first-out principle, and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the
inventories and other costs incurred in bringing them to their existing location and condition. Net
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated
costs of completion and estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

3.9

Impairment

3.9.1

Financial assets

3.9.1.1 Financial instruments and contract assets
The Group recognises loss allowances for Expected Credit Losses (ECLs) on financial assets at
amortised cost.
The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, except for the following,
which are measured at 12-month ECLs:
• bank balances for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default occurring over the expected life
of the financial instrument) has not increased significantly since initial recognition.
The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables and contract assets at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs.
When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and supportable
information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both
quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience
and informed credit assessment and including forward-looking information.
The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is more
than 30 days past due.
The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when:

•
•

the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse
by the Group to actions such as realising security (if any is held); or
the financial asset is more than 90 days past due.

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a
financial instrument.
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3.9

Impairment (continued)

3.9.1

Financial assets (continued)

3.9.1.1 Financial instruments and contract assets (continued)
12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are possible within the
12 months after the reporting date (or a shorter period if the expected life of the instrument is less
than 12 months).
The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over
which the Group is exposed to credit risk.
3.9.1.2 Measurement of ECLs
ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present
value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive).
ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset.
3.9.1.3 Credit-impaired financial assets
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost are
credit-impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:

•
•
•
•

significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;
a breach of contract such as a default or being more than 90 days past due;
the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on terms that the Group would not
consider otherwise;
it is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

3.9.1.4 Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position
Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross
carrying amount of the assets. Impairment losses related to trade and other receivables, including
contract assets, are presented separately in the Statement of Profit or loss and OCI.
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3.9

Impairment (continued)

3.9.1

Financial assets (continued)

3.9.1.5 Write-off
The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off when the Group has no reasonable
expectations of recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. The Group
individually makes an assessment with respect to the timing and amount of write-off on its financial
assets based on whether there is a reasonable expectation of recovery and with reference to its
historical experience of recoveries. The Group expects no significant recovery from the amount
written off. However, financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement
activities in order to comply with the Group’s procedures for recovery of amounts due.
3.9.2

Non-financial assets
The carrying amounts of the Group's non-financial assets, other than deferred tax assets and
inventories, are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of
impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset's recoverable amount is estimated.
Goodwill is tested annually for impairment.
The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less
costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU. For the purpose of impairment testing,
assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped together into the smallest group of assets
that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows
of other assets or CGU. Goodwill arising from a business combination is allocated to CGUs or groups
of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.
An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its related cash-generating
unit (CGU) exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.
The Group's corporate assets do not generate separate cash inflows. If there is an indication that a
corporate asset may be impaired, then the recoverable amount is determined for the CGU to which
the corporate asset belongs.
Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in prior periods
are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer
exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine
the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset's carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. An impairment loss in
respect of goodwill is not reversed.
For impairment testing of Goodwill that is allocated to a group of CGUs, any resulting impairment
losses are allocated first to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the group of CGUs,
and then to reduce the carrying amount of Goodwill.
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3.10

Investments in subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries are shown in the statement of financial position of the Company at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses.

3.11

Employee benefits

3.11.1

Defined contribution plans
The Group contributes towards the State defined contribution plan in accordance with local
legislation and to which it has no commitment beyond the payment of fixed contributions.
Obligations for contributions to the defined contribution plan are recognised in profit or loss as
incurred.

3.11.2

Other long-term employee benefits
The Group’s net obligation in respect of long-term employee benefits is the amount of future
benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods.
That benefit is discounted to determine its present value, and the fair value of any related assets
is deducted. The discount rate is the yield at the reporting date on German Government Bonds
that have maturity dates approximating the terms of the Group’s obligations.

3.11.3

Severance payments
Pursuant to United Arab Emirates (U.A.E.) and Sultanate of Oman labour regulations, severance
payments have to be paid on termination of employment either by the employer or by the
employee. The Group’s net obligation in respect of this defined benefit obligation is calculated by
estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in the current and prior
periods, and discounting that amount. The calculation of the liability is performed annually at each
reporting date using the projected unit credit method. Re-measurement of the liability, which
comprise actuarial gains and losses, are recognised immediately in OCI.
The Group determines the interest expense on the liability for the period by applying the discount
rate used to measure the obligation at the beginning of the annual period to the then-net liability,
taking into account any changes in the liability during the period as a result of payments. Interest
expense is recognised in profit or loss. The Group recognises gains and losses on the settlement of
a liability when the settlement occurs.

3.12

Provisions
A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected
future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of discount is recognised as finance cost.
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3.13

Revenue
Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer. The
Group recognises revenue when it transfers control over a product or service to a customer.

3.13.1 Performance obligations and revenue recognition policies
The following is a description of the principal activities – separated by reportable segments – from
which the Group generates its revenue. For more detailed information about reportable segments,
see note 5 Operating Segments.
The Group is engaged in providing services and support to the offshore oil and gas industry and
OCTG services to the onshore oil and gas market and as such is involved in providing support
services that span over a term. Services and support provided to the offshore oil and gas industry
consists of integrated offshore logistics, engineering support services, mixing and storage of drilling
fluids and waste management services. OCTG services to the onshore oil and gas market consists
of handling and storage, inspection and machine shop services and other ancillary services. In this
regard revenue is recognised and measured as follows.
3.13.1.1 Integrated Logistics Support Services (ILSS)
Logistic support services
The Group performs and provides logistics services to international oil companies carrying out
offshore drilling campaigns. The Group delivers fully integrated supply base services which connect
all the elements of the clients’ logistics and materials management activities. Logistics support
services include provision of equipment, personnel, warehousing, quays and land in a certified
facility aimed at supporting offshore oil and gas drilling activities.
Shore base logistics have been identified as a series of distinct services transferred to the customer
in the same pattern, on the basis that both of the following criteria are met:
•
•

each distinct service in the series is satisfied over time; and
has a single method of measuring progress.

As the customer simultaneously receives and consumes all of the benefits provided by the entity
as the Group performs, this is a routine or recurring service and thus revenue is recognised over
time.
Engineering services
The Group through its engineering division carries out a full range of essential, non-critical
engineering and technical services for the offshore platforms and drilling rigs. Services range from
fabric maintenance, corrosion protection, riser inspection services, rig repair, technical services
and general fabrication and maintenance. Engineering services have been identified as a bundle of
distinct goods or services that form one single obligation.
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3.13

Revenue (continued)

3.13.1 Performance obligations and revenue recognition policies (continued)
3.13.1.1 Integrated Logistics Support Services (ILSS) (continued)
Engineering services (continued)
As the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset
is created, revenue is recognised over time.
Supply of goods
The Group is involved in procuring various goods and supplies to its customers for use on the
offshore rigs and their supply vessels. Sales are recognised when control of the goods has
transferred, being when the goods are delivered to the customer.
Delivery occurs when the goods have been shipped to the specific location or loaded onto the
client’s vessel, the risks and rewards have been transferred to the customer, and either the
customer has accepted the goods in accordance with the sales contract, or the Group has objective
evidence that all criteria for acceptance have been satisfied. Generally, for such goods, the
customer has no right of return. Therefore, revenue from supply of goods is recognised when the
goods are delivered as this is the point in time that the consideration is unconditional since only
the passage of time is required before payment is due.
3.13.1.2 Oil country tubular goods (OCTG)
Storage and handling
Storage and handling services have been identified as distinct on the basis that the following
criteria are met:
•

the customer can benefit from the good or services on its own or in conjunction with other
readily available resources; and

•

the Group’s promise to transfer the service to the customer is separately identifiable from
other promises in the contract.

As the customer simultaneously receives and consumes all of the benefits provided by the entity
as the Group performs, this is a routine or recurring service and thus revenue is recognised over
time.
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3.13

Revenue (continued)

3.13.1 Nature of goods and services (continued)
3.13.1.2 Oil country tubular goods (OCTG) (continued)
Inspection
Inspection services have been identified as distinct on the basis that the following criteria are met:
•

the customer can benefit from the good or services on its own or in conjunction with other
readily available resources; and

•

the Group’s promise to transfer the service to the customer is separately identifiable from
other promises in the contract.

As the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset
is created, and this is a routine or recurring service, revenue is thus recognised over time.
Repairs of pipes
Each of the service provided in this operating segment has been identified as distinct on the basis
that the following criteria are met:
•

the customer can benefit from the good or services on its own or in conjunction with other
readily available resources; and

•

the Group’s promise to transfer the service to the customer is separately identifiable from
other promises in the contract.

As the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset
is created, and this is a routine or recurring service, revenue is thus recognised over time.
3.13.1.3 Photovoltaic income
Supply of electricity
The Group derives part of its revenue from the sale of solar generated electricity based on long
term Feed-in-Tariffs. The photovoltaic income has been identified as a series of distinct services
transferred to the customer in the same pattern, on the basis that both of the following criteria are
met:
•

each distinct service in the series is satisfied over time; and

•

has a single method of measuring progress.

As the customer simultaneously receives and consumes all of the benefits provided by the entity
as the Group performs, this is a routine or recurring service and thus revenue is recognised over
time.
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3.13

Revenue (continued)

3.13.2 Determining transaction price and allocation to performance obligations
The Group’s amount of consideration which it expects to be entitled to in exchange for transferring
of services to a customer is determined on a per-service usage basis and is payable in accordance
with customary payment terms. Accordingly, a transaction price is determined separately for each
performance obligation.
3.13.3 Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss on the date on which the Company’s right to receive
payment is established.
3.14

Finance income and finance costs
Finance income comprises interest income recognised on financial assets. Interest income is
recognised as it accrues in profit or loss, using the effective interest method.
Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings. Borrowing costs that are not attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are recognised in profit or loss
using the effective interest method.

3.15

Government grants
Grants that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are recognised in profit or loss as other
income on a systematic basis in the periods in which the expenses are recognised.
Government grants related to assets, including non-monetary grants, are initially recognised as
deferred income at fair value if there is reasonable assurance that they will be received and the
Group will comply with the conditions associated with the grant; they are then recognised in profit
or loss on a systematic basis over the useful life of the asset and presented as a deduction from the
amortization cost of the related asset.

3.16

Income tax
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except to
the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or in
other comprehensive income.
Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the
year and any adjustment to the tax payable in respect of previous years. The amount of current tax
payable or receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or received that
reflects uncertainty related to income taxes, if any. It is measured using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date. Current tax also includes any tax arising from
dividends.
Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met.
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3.16

Income tax (continued)
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.
Deferred tax is not recognised for:
•

temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that
is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or
loss;

•

temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
arrangements to the extent that the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of
the temporary differences and it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable
future; and

•

taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which they can be used. Future taxable profits are determined based on the reversal of
relevant taxable temporary differences. If the amount of taxable temporary differences is
insufficient to recognise a deferred tax asset in full, then future taxable profits, adjusted for
reversals of existing temporary differences, are considered, based on the business plans for
individual subsidiaries in the Group. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and
are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised;
such reductions are reversed when the probability of future taxable profits improves.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they
can be used.
Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences
when they reverse, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.
The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met.
3.17

Earnings per share
The Group presents basic earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. This EPS is calculated
by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. If the number of ordinary or
potential ordinary shares outstanding increases as a result of a capitalisation, bonus issue or share
split, the calculation of EPS for all periods presented shall be adjusted retrospectively.
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3.18

Segment reporting
An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which
it may earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to
transactions with any of the Group’s other components. All operating segments’ operating results
are reviewed regularly by the Board of Directors, the chief operating decision maker, to make
decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance, and for which
discrete financial information is available.
Segment results that are reported to the Board of Directors include items directly attributable to a
segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise
mainly the Company’s assets and liabilities.
Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the year to acquire property, plant
and equipment.

4

Standards issued but not yet effective
A number of new standards are effective for annual periods beginning after 1 January 2019 and
earlier application is permitted, however, the Group has not early adopted the new or amended
standards in preparing these consolidated financial statements.
The following amended standards and interpretations are not expected to have a significant impact
on the Group's consolidated financial statements:
-

Amendments to References to Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards.
Definition of a Business (Amendments to IFRS 3).
Definition of Material (Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8).
Amendments to IFRS9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7: Interest Rate Benchmark Reform.

5

Operating segments

5.1

The Group has three reportable segments, as described below, which represent the Group’s
strategic divisions. These divisions offer different products and services and are managed
separately because they require different resources and marketing strategies. For each of the
strategic divisions, the Board of Directors, which is the chief operating decision maker, reviews
internal management reports on a monthly basis.
The following summary describes the operations in each of the Group’s reportable segments:
Integrated logistics support services

Includes the provision of comprehensive logistical support
services to the offshore oil and gas industry from the
Group’s bases in Malta, Cyprus, Egypt and Suriname
(South America).
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5.1

(continued)
Oil country tubular goods

Includes the provision of an integrated approach to OCTG
handling, inspection, repairs and other ancillary services
based in three Middle East locations, namely U.A.E.,
Southern Iraq and Sultanate of Oman.

Photovoltaic farm

Involves the generation of electricity which is sold into the
national grid for a twenty-year period at a price secured
under the tariff scheme regulated by subsidiary legislation
S.L. 423.46 in Malta.

Information regarding the results of each reportable segment is included below. Performance is
measured based on segment profit before income tax, as included in the internal management
reports that are reviewed by the Board of Directors. Segment profit is used to measure
performance as management believes that such information is the most relevant in evaluating the
results of certain segments relative to other entities that operate within these industries.
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5.2

Information about reportable segments
Integrated logistics support
services

Oil country tubular goods

Photovoltaic farm

Total

2019
€

2018
€

2019
€

2018
€

2019
€

2018
€

2019
€

2018
€

External revenue
Inter-segment revenue
Segment revenue

52,197,831
52,197,831

21,470,012
21,470,012

16,047,195
16,047,195

14,216,490
14,216,490

484,725
484,725

500,697
500,697

68,729,751
68,729,751

36,187,199
36,187,199

Net finance costs
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment
Depreciation on right-of-use assets
Amortisation
Other material non-cash items:
- amortisation of signing bonus
- impairment losses on financial assets
- net impairment on property, plant and equipment*
Reportable segment loss before tax
Adjusted EBITDA

(3,968,159)
(1,753,089)
(3,279,601)
-

(2,999,205)
(2,458,751)
(2,474,525)
-

(1,269,967)
(1,271,607)
(1,327,163)
(1,472,987)

(1,970,013)
(1,502,894)
(1,037,558)
(1,472,987)

(403,305)
(208,112)
-

(400,680)
(208,112)
-

(5,641,431)
(3,232,808)
(4,606,764)
(1,472,987)

(5,369,898)
(4,169,757)
(3,512,083)
(1,472,987)

(69,452)
(343,531)
8,657,317

(939,358)
(6,948,853)
983,628

(318,080)
(2,087,520)
3,572,285

(450,613)
(36,280)
(981,572)
(1,774,396)
5,834,266

(122,336)
489,081

(108,095)
500,697

(318,080)
(69,452)
(2,553,387)
12,718,683

(450,613)
(975,638)
(981,572)
(8,831,344)
7,318,591

110,733,252
595,452
113,528,781

108,622,307
6,345,266
104,476,048

38,413,506
864,260
20,748,143

42,470,005
538,580
27,326,394

2,870,888
6,320,245

3,079,000
6,277,915

152,017,646
1,459,712
140,597,169

154,171,312
6,883,846
138,080,357

5,561,317
(589,535)
(5,036,993)

5,430,252
(6,144,312)
(576,869)

4,549,112
(1,100,478)
(4,799,365)

2,908,197
(412,417)
(1,769,399)

(56,363)
-

500,617
-

10,054,066
(1,690,013)
(9,836,358)

8,839,066
(6,556,729)
(2,346,268)

Reportable segment assets
Capital expenditure
Reportable segment liabilities

Operating net cash flows
Investing net cash flows
Financing net cash flows

*Included in net impairment loss in the comparative year is an impairment loss of €1,227,392 on the carrying amount of the ba se improvements in the Middle East Tubular Services L.L.C. (FZC) ("METS Sohar"), which loss has been
recognised in ‘other expenses’ and an impairment loss of €371,514 determined in relation to the Iraq Machine Shop CGU relatin g to Middle East Tubular Services (Iraq) Limited ("METS Iraq") . The impairment loss is net of a reversal of a
provision on legal and constructive obligations amounting to €617,478 relating to the reinstatement of the leased base of METS Sohar (see note 13).
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5.3

Reconciliation of reportable segment revenues, profit or loss, assets and liabilities

5.4

2019

2018

€

€

Revenues
Total external revenues for reportable
segments

68,729,751

36,187,199

Consolidated revenues

68,729,751

36,187,199

Profit or loss
Loss before tax for reportable segments

(2,553,387)

(8,831,344)

Consolidated loss before income tax

(2,553,387)

(8,831,344)

Assets
Total assets for reportable segments
Unallocated amounts

152,017,646
2,667,740

154,171,312
2,605,760

Consolidated total assets

154,685,386

156,777,072

Liabilities
Total liabilities for reportable segments

140,597,169

138,080,357

Consolidated total liabilities

140,597,169

138,080,357

Geographical information
The ILSS segment is managed from Malta but operate base facilities and/or offices in Malta, Cyprus,
Egypt, Suriname and Libya. The OCTG segment is managed from U.A.E. and operate base facilities
in U.A.E., Southern Iraq and Sultanate of Oman. In presenting information on the basis of
geographical segments, segment revenue is based on the geographical location of customers.
Segment assets are based on the geographical location of the assets. Non-current assets exclude
goodwill amounting to €2,667,740 (2018: €2,605,760).
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5

Operating segments (continued)

5.4

Geographical information (continued)

31 December 2019
Cyprus
Malta
Egypt
Middle East
South America

31 December 2018
Libya
Italy
Cyprus
Malta
Croatia
Middle East
Other countries

Revenues

Non-current assets

€

€

4,932,492
13,907,564
3,339,317
16,047,195
30,503,183

5,228,144
83,051,052
5,028,016
31,767,995
-

68,729,751

125,075,207

8,301,683
3,108,120
5,789,067
1,228,513
8,505
14,216,491
3,534,820

415
8,088,495
85,225,454
38,832,571
-

36,187,199

132,146,935

Group revenues from transactions with three (2018: three) major external customers during the
year amounted to approximately €45.5 million (2018: €22.1 million). Revenues are being analysed
by country of incorporation of customers.
Situation in Libya
Despite the political instability in Libya, the impact on the Group’s operations in Libya during the
year remained minimal as the Group continued normally servicing the clients’ operations offshore
Libya, which are located 120 kilometers north of the Libyan coast.
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6

Revenue

6.1

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
In the following table, revenue from contracts with customers is disaggregated by primary geographical market, major service lines and timing of revenue recognition. The table
also includes a reconciliation of the disaggregated revenue with the Group’s reportable segments (see note 5).
Integrated logistics support
services
For the year ended 31
December

Malta
Middle East
Cyprus
Portugal
Egypt
South America

Oil country tubular goods

Photovoltaic farm

Total

2019

2018

2019

2018

2019

2018

2019

2018

€

€

€

€

€

€

€

€

13,422,839
4,932,492
3,339,317
30,503,183

12,909,102
5,789,067
1,134,259
1,637,584
-

16,047,195
-

14,216,490
-

484,725
-

500,697
-

13,907,564
16,047,195
4,932,492
3,339,317
30,503,183

13,409,799
14,216,490
5,789,067
1,134,259
1,637,584
-

52,197,831

21,470,012

16,047,195

14,216,490

484,725

500,697

68,729,751

36,187,199
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6

Revenue (continued)

6.1

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Integrated logistics support
services

Oil country tubular goods

Photovoltaic farm

Total

For the year ended 31
December

Major service lines
Logistic support services
Supplies
Engineering services
Storage and handling
Inspection
Repairs of pipes
Supply of electricity

Timing of revenue
recognition
Transferred over time
Point in time

2019

2018

2019

2018

2019

2018

2019

2018

€

€

€

€

€

€

€

€

42,286,460
4,191,897
1,611,950
4,107,524
52,197,831

14,894,308
2,691,729
1,202,674
2,681,301
21,470,012

10,996,538
1,110,391
3,940,266
16,047,195

11,166,221
1,499,359
1,550,910
14,216,490

484,725
484,725

500,697
500,697

42,286,460
4,191,897
1,611,950
15,104,062
1,110,391
3,940,266
484,725
68,729,751

14,894,308
2,691,729
1,202,674
13,847,522
1,499,359
1,550,910
500,697
36,187,199

48,005,934
4,191,897

18,778,283
2,691,729

16,047,195
-

14,216,490
-

484,725
-

500,697
-

64,537,854
4,191,897

33,495,470
2,691,729

52,197,831

21,470,012

16,047,195

14,216,490

484,725

500,697

68,729,751

36,187,199
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Revenue (continued)

6.2

Contract balances
The following table provides information about receivables, contract assets and contract liabilities
from contracts with customers.

Receivables, which are included in ‘trade
and other receivables’
Contract assets

31 December 2019

31 December 2018

€

€

15,426,053

12,824,215

1,607,674

67,775

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s rights to consideration for work completed but not
billed at the reporting date. The contract assets are transferred to receivables when the rights become
unconditional.
6.3

Contract costs
The contract costs include the carrying amount of a signing bonus amounting to €636,160 (2018:
€954,239) granted to certain key management personnel of METS during 2016 subject to vesting
period. This signing bonus originally amounted to €1,590,401 and started being amortised over a
period of five years, from the date of commencement of the contract on 1 January 2017.

7

Other income and other expenses

7.1

Other income
The Group

Note
Exchange differences
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Government grants
Reversal of deferred income
Reversal of provision
Other income
Gain on lease modification

40

13
22
22
13.7

2019

2018

€

€

332,799
23,117
4,381
884,219
39,078
91,911
-

154,896
10,560
104,380
775,533
617,478
24,799
361,967

1,375,505

2,049,613
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7
7.2

Other income and other expenses
Other expenses
The Group

Loss on lease modification
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment

8

2019

2018

Note

€

€

13
13.7

43,525
-

268,961
1,598,906

43,525

1,867,867

Expenses by nature

8.1
The Group
Note

Direct cost of services
Consumables
Employee benefits
Depreciation
Amortisation of intangible
assets
Amortisation of signing
bonus
Professional fees
Listing expenses
Travelling and
telecommunications
Impairment loss on
receivables from subsidiaries
(Reversal of) impairment
losses on investments
in subsidiaries
Repairs and maintenance
Insurance
Security services
Staff welfare
Other
Total cost of sales and
administrative expenses

The Company

2019

2018

2019

2018

€

€

€

€

18
9
13,29

38,117,707
8,119
12,299,417
7,839,572

15,530,583
8,336
8,558,513
7,874,498

-

-

16

1,472,987

1,472,987

-

-

6

318,080
1,857,123
88,947

450,613
1,266,799
89,504

402,654
88,645

277,416
89,504

641,265

693,804

3,312

2,300

-

-

3,228,135

-

793,979
733,241
309,088
858,347
1,566,363

649,150
644,703
345,956
453,766
1,668,534

22,625
41,847

(11,647)
6,200

66,904,235

39,707,746

3,787,218

363,773
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Expenses by nature (continued)

8.1

(continued)
The Group
2019

2018

2019

2018

€

€

€

€

Cost of sales
Administrative expenses

59,391,709
7,512,526

33,639,893
6,067,853

3,787,218

363,773

Total cost of sales and
administrative expenses

66,904,235

39,707,746

3,787,218

363,773

Categorised as follows:

8.2

The total fees charged to the Group and the company by the independent auditors during 2019
can be analysed as follows:

Auditors’ remuneration
Tax advisory services
Other non-audit services

9

The Company

The Group

The Company

€

€

326,712
28,107
324,811

75,520
2,449
9,617

679,630

87,586

Personnel expenses
Personnel expenses incurred by the Group during the year are analysed as follows:

Directors’ emoluments:
Salaries
Fees

Wages and salaries
Social security contributions
Termination benefit
Maternity fund
Other statutory contributions

42

2019

2018

€

€

513,519
99,000

464,220
90,000

612,519
11,111,264
496,989
5,929
72,716

554,220
7,451,959
374,515
139,306
5,568
32,945

12,299,417

8,558,513
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9

Personnel expenses (continued)
The weekly average number of persons employed by the Group during the year was as follows:

Operating
Management and administration

2019

2018

No.

No.

263
41

255
37

304

292

The Company had no employees during current and comparative years.

10

Finance income and finance costs
The Group

The Company

2019

2018

2019

2018

€

€

€

€

Bank interest receivable
Interest receivable from
subsidiaries
Unrealised exchange differences
Realised exchange differences

6,217

9

21

9

44,858

-

2,565,507
589,690
-

2,635,193
640,018
-

Finance income

51,075

9

3,155,218

3,275,220

Interest payable on bank loans
Other bank interest payable
Interest payable to note holders
Finance cost on finance leases
Exchange differences

(626,777)
(169,030)
(2,781,430)
(1,988,383)
(126,886)

(256,431)
(85,016)
(2,750,415)
(1,760,802)
(517,243)

(2,781,430)
(348,372)

(2,750,415)
(353,428)

Finance costs

(5,692,506)

(5,369,907)

(3,129,802)

(3,103,843)

Net finance (costs)/income

(5,641,431)

(5,369,898)

25,416

171,377
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11

Tax expense

11.1

Recognised in the income statement
The Group
2019

2018

2019

2018

€

€

€

€

(147)

(86,573)

(147)

(147)

(147)

(86,573)

(147)

(147)

(852,595)
45,146

(608,977)
-

-

-

(807,449)

(608,977)

-

-

(807,596)

(695,550)

(147)

(147)

Current tax expense
Current year

Deferred tax movement
Movement in temporary differences
Reclassification related to prior year

Total tax expense

11.2

The Company

The tax expense for the year and the result of the accounting loss multiplied by the tax rate
applicable in Malta, the Company’s country of incorporation, are reconciled as follows:
The Group

Loss before tax
Tax using the Company’s
domestic tax rate
Tax effect of:
Investment tax credits
(see note 17.3)
Disallowed expenses
Difference in tax rates applicable to
Group
Exempt income
Adjustment to prior years’ deferred
tax asset
Deferred tax asset movement
Consolidation adjustments not
subject to tax
Total tax expense

The Company

2019

2018

2019

2018

€

€

€

€

(2,553,387)

(8,831,344)

(3,761,802)

(122,942)

893,685

3,090,970

1,316,631

43,031

(402)
(2,740,933)

(958,574)
(3,478,756)

(1,317,320)

(43,720)

231,088
942,246

(132,717)
1,386,258

542
-

542
-

(133,280)

246,009
-

-

-

-

(848,740)

-

-

(807,596)

(695,550)

(147)

(147)
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11

Tax expense (continued)

11.3

Recognised in the income statement
The applicable tax rate during the current and comparative year is the statutory local income tax
rate of 35% for income generated in Malta. The results from operations in Cyprus, Portugal and
Egypt are subject to the statutory local income tax of 12.5%, 21% and 22.5% respectively. The
Company’s subsidiary in the Sohar Free Zone in the Sultanate of Oman is exempt from income tax
for a period of 10 years starting from 15 January 2012. The Company’s subsidiary in the Special
Economic Zone in Duqm in the Sultanate of Oman is exempt from income tax for a period of 30
years starting from 1 November 2017. The Company’s subsidiaries in the U.A.E. and Southern Iraq
are exempt from income tax.
The Company’s subsidiary, Medserv Operations Limited is eligible to the incentives provided by
regulations 5, 31 and 32 of the Business Promotion Regulations, 2001 (“BPRs”) and regulation 4 of
the Investment Aid Regulations (“IARs”) (see note 17.3).

12

Adjusted earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (adjusted
EBITDA)
The Directors of the Group have presented the performance measure adjusted EBITDA as they
monitor this performance measure at a consolidated level and they believe this measure is relevant
to an understanding of the Group’s financial performance. Adjusted EBITDA is calculated by
adjusting the profit or loss from continuing operations to exclude the impact of taxation, net
finance costs, depreciation, amortisation and net impairment losses on property, plant and
equipment.
Adjusted EBITDA is not a defined performance measure in IFRS. The Group’s definition of adjusted
EBITDA may not be comparable with similarly titled performance measures and disclosures by
other entities.
Reconciliation of adjusted EBITDA to loss from continuing operations
The Group

Loss from continuing operations
Income tax expense
Loss before tax
Adjustments for:
Net finance costs
Depreciation
Amortisation of intangible assets
Amortisation of signing bonus
Net impairment losses on property, plant
and equipment
Adjusted EBITDA

45

2019

2018

Note

€

€

11

(3,360,983)
807,596
(2,553,387)

(9,526,894)
695,550
(8,831,344)

10
13, 29
16
5,6

5,641,431
7,839,572
1,472,987
318,080

5,369,898
7,874,864
1,472,988
450,613

13.7

12,718,683

981,572
7,318,591
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Property, plant and equipment - The Group

13.1
Plant and
equipment

Photovoltaic
farm

Cargo
carrying units

Furniture
and fittings

Office and
computer
equipment

Motor
vehicles

Assets not
yet in use

Total

Buildings

Base
improvements

€

€

€

€

€

€

€

€

€

€

51,586,133
6,884,199
-

11,461,979
-

8,939,447
513,567
950,562

19,386,625
6,040,186
(66,772)

4,016,258
-

3,479,429
-

1,212,100
69,573
-

805,374
38,995
-

1,229,142
178,185
-

1,055,779
43,693
(883,790)

Disposals
Effect of movements in exchange
rates

(2,190,831)

-

(1,437,581)

(482,808)

-

-

(69,234)

(61,882)

(139,326)

-

1,244,878

54,764

254,193

819,648

-

-

8,532

8,080

49,420

50,241

Balance at 31.12.18

57,524,379

11,516,743

9,220,188

25,696,879

4,016,258

3,479,429

1,220,971

790,567

1,317,421

265,923

Balance at 01.01.19
Additions
Transfers
Disposals
Effect of movements in exchange
rates

57,524,379
1,459,712
(2,440,626)

11,516,743
893,690
33,020
-

9,220,188
14,215
(33,020)
(1,988,129)

25,696,879
346,764
45,525
(269,491)

4,016,258
-

3,479,429
-

1,220,971
125,810
-

790,567
65,313
(1,517)

1,317,421
13,920
(181,489)

265,923
(45,525)
-

527,873

24,075

140,995

331,535

-

-

3,898

3,726

18,215

5,429

Balance at 31.12.19

57,071,338

12,467,528

7,354,249

26,151,212

4,016,258

3,479,429

1,350,679

858,089

1,168,067

225,827

Depreciation
Balance at 01.01.18
Charge for the year
Impairment losses
Disposals
Effect of movements in exchange
rates

19,702,688
4,169,757
1,598,905
(1,594,762)
447,018

2,138,451
202,614
29,298

4,154,729
788,667
1,227,853
(1,191,436)
125,840

9,388,801
2,264,065
371,052
(213,439)
254,526

729,140
208,112
-

1,137,614
347,436
-

553,857
104,220
(27,707)
5,643

635,501
104,309
(50,971)
5,899

964,595
150,334
(111,209)
25,812

-

Balance at 31.12.18

24,323,606

2,370,363

5,105,653

12,065,005

937,252

1,485,050

636,013

694,738

1,029,532

-

Cost
Balance at 01.01.18
Additions
Transfers
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Property, plant and equipment - The Group (continued)

13.1

(continued)

Plant and
equipment

Photovoltaic
farm

Cargo
carrying units

Furniture
and fittings

Office and
computer
equipment

Motor
vehicles

Assets not
yet in use

Total

Buildings

Base
improvements

€

€

€

€

€

€

€

€

€

€

24,323,606
3,232,808
(2,181,292)

2,370,363
470,141
-

5,105,653
230,243
(1,988,129)

12,065,005
1,669,968
(18,180)

937,252
208,111
-

1,485,050
347,081
-

636,013
107,280
-

694,738
70,750
(589)

1,029,532
129,234
(174,394)

-

224,211

13,504

107,800

112,191

-

-

-12,902

3,099

519

-

Balance at 31.12.19

25,599,333

2,854,008

3,455,567

13,828,984

1,145,363

1,832,131

730,391

767,998

984,891

-

Carrying amounts
At 1 January 2018

31,883,445

9,323,528

4,784,718

9,997,824

3,287,118

2,341,815

658,243

169,873

264,547

1,055,779

At 31 December 2018

33,200,773

9,146,380

4,114,535

13,631,874

3,079,006

1,994,379

584,958

95,829

287,889

265,923

At 1 January 2019

33,200,773

9,146,380

4,114,535

13,631,874

3,079,006

1,994,379

584,958

95,829

287,889

265,923

At 31 December 2019

31,472,005

9,613,520

3,898,682

12,322,228

2,870,895

1,647,298

620,288

90,091

183,176

225,827

Depreciation (continued)
Balance at 01.01.19
Charge for the year
Disposals
Effect of movements in exchange
rates

13.2

The Group’s buildings and base improvements are situated on land held under title of temporary emphyteusis (see note 29.1).

13.3

Assets not yet in use as at year-end comprise of machinery to be utilised in the Group’s future projects in the Middle East.

13.4

Commitments
As at year-end, the Group’s contractual commitments amounted to €Nil (2018: €508,568).
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Property, plant and equipment - The Group (continued)

13.5

Security
At 31 December 2019, the Group’s emphyteutical rights on the Medserv site at the Malta Freeport
at the Port of Marsaxlokk (refer to note 23.2) were subject to a general hypothec and a special
hypothec in relation to the notes issued by the Company and bank borrowings by the Group (refer
to note 23.3).

13.6

Change in estimates
During 2019, the Group determined that the useful life of certain items of equipment, in particular
the heavy lifting machinery in Malta and Cyprus, should increase from eight years to fifteen years
in light of its preventive maintenance program and Health, Safety, Security, Environment & Quality
(HSSEQ) standards in place. On the other hand, the useful life of the heavy machinery in Egypt was
revised down to six years from eight years in line with the contractual obligation to use modern
equipment.
The effect of these changes on the expected annual depreciation expense included in ‘cost of sales’,
was as follows:

(Decrease)/increase
in depreciation expense

13.7

2019

2020

2021

2022

2023

€

€

€

€

€

Later

€

(696,112)

(696,112)

(681,608)

(672,377)

(672,377)

530,282

Impairment assessments
At reporting date, as a result of the losses sustained in the current and/or comparative years by (i)
Middle East Tubular Services Limited ("METS UAE"), (ii) Middle East Tubular Services L.L.C. (FZC)
("METS Sohar") and (iii) Middle East Tubular Services (Iraq) Limited ("METS Iraq") and in
consideration of the following risks:
•
•
•

the global and regional political and economic risks;
the concentration risk due to the dependency on a few customers; and
the volatility in oil and gas prices and related demand for oil and gas and their impact on
the customers’ business activity.

Other than the right-of-use assets of METS Sohar (see note 29), which were tested separately for
impairment, the Group tested for impairment the property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets ( see note 29) of METS UAE and METS Iraq as part of the related Cash-Generating Unit
(CGU) of which they form part.
The carrying amount (net of accumulated impairment losses) of the tested property, plant and
equipment at reporting date stood as follows:
•
•
•

METS UAE – €2,116,269
METS Sohar - €15,777
METS Iraq - €3,966,923
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Property, plant and equipment - The Group (continued)

13.7

Impairment assessments (continued)
These assets and related CGUs form part of the METS sub-group and OCTG CGU which was also
tested for impairment in view of the yearly impairment testing for Goodwill (refer to note 16.3).
The recoverable amount of these assets or related CGUs as at 31 December 2019 were determined
with reference to their value-in-use, by discounting the future cash flows to be generated from
their continuing use. The cash flow projections included specific estimates for the first five-years
and extrapolation at a terminal growth rate thereafter (as applicable). EBITDA margins included in
the projections were based on management’s expectations of market developments and future
outcomes, taking into account past performance, adjusted for anticipated revenue growth. No
impairment loss has been determined for the tested assets and related CGUs.
In 2017, one of the Group’s significant customers has relocated its operations from the Group’s
base in the Sohar Freezone to its other base in Duqm. Consequently, in 2018 the Group downsized
its base in Sohar and sustained full impairment loss of €1,227,392 on the carrying amount of the
base improvements, which loss has been recognised in ‘other expenses’ in the comparative year.
Included in ‘other income’ in 2018 is a reversal of a provision on legal and constructive obligations
amounting to €617,478, which consisted of a minimum increment rate of 2% per annum over the
future operating lease payments of the above-mentioned lease in Sohar (see note 7.1).
In 2018, an impairment loss of €371,514 was determined in relation to the Iraq Machine Shop CGU
having a carrying amount of €3,631,663 and a recoverable amount of €3,260,149. The impairment
loss was allocated in full to ‘plant and machinery’ within the property, plant and equipment
schedule. This CGU provides handling, inspection and machine shop services to the OCTG market
from its base in the Khor Al Zubair Freezone in Basra located in South Iraq.
The key assumptions used in the estimation of value-in-use calculation of the Iraq Machine Shop
CGU were as follows:
2018
%
Pre-tax discount rate

26.60

The values assigned to the key assumptions represent management’s assessment of future trends
in the industry. The key assumptions are based on both external sources and internal sources
(historical data). The projected annual revenue growth rate is based on the assumption that there
is a significant increase in oil activity in the region.
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14

Investments in subsidiaries

14.1
Total

14.2

At 1 January 2018
Reversal of Impairment loss
At 31 December 2018

€
13,407,096
11,647
13,418,743

Capital
subscribed
€
332,686
11,647
344,333

At 1 January 2019
Issue of loans receivable to subsidiary
Impairment losses
At 31 December 2019

13,418,743
10,037,297
(3,228,135)
20,227,905

344,333
344,333

Loans
receivable
€
13,074,410
13,074,410
13,074,410
10,037,297
(3,228,135)
19,883,572

During the year, intercompany balances between the subsidiaries amounting to €9,424,128 were
assigned in full to the Company and together with the other amounts due from subsidiaries to the
Company, which in total amounted to €10,037,297, were capitalized and treated as part of the
subsidiaries’ equity by way of support to the subsidiaries (see note 19.1). The loans receivable from
the subsidiaries as at 31 December 2019 are unsecured and interest free.
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14

Investments in subsidiaries (continued)

14.3

List of subsidiaries and sub-subsidiaries
Subsidiaries

Registered
office

Ownership interest
2019
2018
%
%

Nature of
business

Paid
up
%

Medserv International
Limited

Port of Marsaxlokk
Birzebbugia
Malta

99.99

99.99

Holding company

25

InMedco Limited
(formerly Medserv
Italy Limited – see
note 15.1)

Port of Marsaxlokk
Birzebbugia
Malta

50.00

99.99

Holding company

20

Medserv Eastern
Mediterranean
Limited

Port of Marsaxlokk
Birzebbugia
Malta

99.99

99.99

Holding company

20

Medserv Western
Mediterranean
Limited

Port of Marsaxlokk
Birzebbugia
Malta

99.99

99.99

Holding company

20

Medserv Libya
Limited

Port of Marsaxlokk
Birzebbugia
Malta

99.99

99.99

Logistical support and
other services

20

Medserv M.E.
Limited

Port of Marsaxlokk
Birzebbugia
Malta

99.99

99.99

Holding company

100

Medserv Operations
Limited

Port of Marsaxlokk
Birzebbugia
Malta

99.99

99.99

Logistical support and
other services

100

Medserv (Cyprus)
Limited

Karaiskakis Street
Limassol
Cyprus

80.00

80.00

Logistical support and
other services

100

MDS Energy Portugal
Unipessoal Lda

Ave D Joao II 46–4-A
1990-095 Lisbon
Portugal

-

100.00

Logistical support and
other services

100

Medserv Energy TT
Limited

18, Scott Bushe Street
Port of Spain
Trinidad & Tobago, W.I.

100.00

100.00

Logistical support and
other services

100

Sub-subsidiaries
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Investments in subsidiaries (continued)

14.3

List of subsidiaries and sub-subsidiaries (continued)
Subsidiaries
(continued)

Registered
office

Medserv Egypt
Oil & Gas Services
J.S.C

51, Tanta Street
Cairo, Egypt

Middle East Tubular
Services Holdings
Limited

Middle East Tubular
Services Limited

Ownership interest
2019
2018
%
%
60.00

60.00

Belmont Chambers
Road Town
Tortola, British Virgin
Islands

100.00

Belmont Chambers
Road Town
Tortola, British Virgin

Middle East Tubular
Services LLC (FZC)

Nature of
business

Paid
up
%

Logistical support and
other services

100

100.00

Holding company

100

100.00

100.00

OCTG services in
U.A.E.

100

PO Box 561
PC322
Al Falaj-Al Qabail
Sohar
Sultanate of Oman

100.00

100.00

OCTG services in
Sultanate of Oman

100

Middle East Tubular
Services (Iraq)
Limited
Islands

Belmont Chambers
Road Town
Tortola, British Virgin

100.00

90.00

OCTG services in
Southern Iraq

100

Middle East
Comprehensive
Tubular Services
(Duqm) L.L.C.

PO Box 45
PC102
The Special Economic
Zone of Duqm
Al Duqm, Al Wusta
Sultanate of Oman

100.00

100.00

OCTG services in
Sultanate of Oman

100

Middle East Tubular
Services (Gulf)
Limited
Islands

Belmont Chambers
Road Town
Tortola, British Virgin

100.00

100.00

Holding company

100

Islands

During the year, MDS Energy Portugal Unipessoal Lda was placed under voluntarily liquidation and
struck off.
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14

Investments in subsidiaries (continued)

14.4

Impairment assessments
At reporting date, the Company tested the investment in Medserv M.E. Limited (“Medserv ME”)
and Medserv Eastern Mediterranean Limited (“MEM”) for impairment as a result of the losses
sustained in the current and/or comparative years and in consideration of the following risks:
•
•
•

the global and regional political and economic risks;
the concentration risk due to the dependency on a few customers; and
the volatility in oil and gas prices and related demand for oil and gas and their impact on
the customers’ business activity.

The carrying amounts of the Company’s investments in Medserv ME and MEM at reporting date
stood at €1,336,667 (2018: €1,200) and €3,906,057 (2018: €240), net of accumulated impairment,
respectively.
In estimating the recoverable amount of the investment in Medserv ME, the Company applied the
same value-in-use analysis prepared in estimating the recoverable amount of goodwill (see note
16) as the recoverability of the net investment in Medserv ME is supported by the same cash flows
and subject to the same risk factors and key assumptions as those underlying the calculation of the
recoverable amount of the OCTG CGU. The recoverable amount was determined by discounting
the future cash flows to be generated from its continuing use. The recoverable amount of Medserv
ME exceeded the carrying amount of the investment and thus no impairment loss was recognised.
The estimated recoverable amount of the net investment in MEM at reporting date, was arrived at
by reference to the value-in-use of the sub-subsidiaries, Medserv Egypt Oil & Gas Services J.S.C.
(“Medserv Egypt“) and Medserv (Cyprus) Limited, determined by discounting the future cash flows
using value-in-use analysis. The cash flows were based on past performance and the directors’
expectations of market development. The cash flow projections included specific estimates for the
five-year period 2020 to 2024 and were based on income projections from MEM’s subsidiaries.
EBITDA margins included in the projections were based on management’s expectations of market
developments and future outcomes, taking into account past performance, adjusted for
anticipated revenue growth.
An impairment loss of €2,614,966 was determined on the investment in MEM. The impairment loss
is the mainly result of the expenses incurred by MEM on behalf of its subsidiaries and in view of an
increased finance cost on the bank loan obtained by the subsidiary in Egypt to finance the capital
expenditure. The discount rate used in the estimation of value-in-use calculation of MEM ranged
17% - 18%. The subsidiary in Egypt is still in its first years of operations and has incurred significant
capital expenditure with the aim to achieve long-term growth. In the event that the subsidiary in
Egypt secures a major contract with another IOC, this impairment could potentially reverse.
An impairment loss of €613,169 on the Company’s investment in Medserv Libya Limited (“Medserv
Libya”) was recognised, writing down the carrying amount of the investment to €Nil as a result of
the losses incurred due to its low business activities. The impairment loss consists of irrecoverable
amounts due to the Company for expenses paid on its behalf which accumulated over a number of
years.
These impairment losses were recognised in the income statement in “administrative expenses”.
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Investments in subsidiaries (continued)

14.5

Acquisition of NCI
In 2019, the Group acquired the remaining 10% interest in Middle East Tubular Services (Iraq)
Limited, increasing its ownership from 90% to 100%. The carrying amount of the net liabilities of
Middle East Tubular Services (Iraq) Limited in the Group’s consolidated financial statements on the
date of acquisition was equivalent to €4,069,860.
2019
€
Carrying amount of NCI acquired

406,986

Consideration paid to NCI

1,197,267

A decease in equity attributable to owners of the Company

1,604,253

The decrease in equity attributable to owners of the Company comprised of a decrease in retained
earnings and translation reserve of €1,557,478 and €46,776 respectively.

15

Equity-accounted investees
Note
Interest in joint venture
Interest in associates
Balance at 31 December

15.1

15.1
15.2

2019
€
300
300

2018
€
-

Joint venture
InMedco Limited is a joint venture in which the Company has joint control and a 50% ownership
interest. Its principally engaged in selling and distributing survival products and services and
delivery of high specification technical services to the oil and gas industry. The joint venture was
previously a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company formerly known as Medserv Italy Limited.
The jointly-controlled entity has not carried out any business activities during the year to 31
December 2019.
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Equity-accounted investees (continued)

15.1

Joint venture (continued)
Summary of financial information for the jointly-controlled entity as at 31 December 2019 is as
follows:
2019
€
Current assets
Current liabilities

1,970
(78,514)

Net liabilities

(76,544)

Company’s share of net liabilities (50%)

(38,272)

Income
Expenses

44,666
(79,058)

Loss for the period

(34,392)

Company’s share of loss (50%)

-

The Company’s share of losses of the joint venture exceeds its interest in the joint venture and as
a result, the Company has discontinued recognising its share of further losses.
15.2

Associates
The Company has a 25% interest in FES Libya Limited, a Maltese incorporated company which was
registered on 28 August 2019 to act as a licensed service provider to various National Oilwell Varco
(NOV®) downhole tools and services in Libya. FES Libya Limited has not yet started operating.
Summary of financial information for the associated entity as at 31 December 2019 is as follows:
2019
€
Current assets
Current liabilities

1,200
-

Net assets

1,200

Company’s share of net assets (25%)

-
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16

Intangible assets and goodwill

16.1

Reconciliation of carrying amount

Note

Total

Goodwill

Brand

Customer
relationships

Licences

€

€

€

€

€

Cost
Balance at 1 January 2018
Effects of movements in exchange rates

17,200,185
135,449

2,470,311
135,449

284,402
-

14,102,368
-

343,104
-

Balance at 31 December 2018

17,335,634

2,605,760

284,402

14,102,368

343,104

Balance at 1 January 2019
Effects of movements in exchange rates

17,335,634
61,980

2,605,760
61,980

284,402
-

14,102,368
-

343,104
-

Balance at 31 December 2019

17,397,614

2,667,740

284,402

14,102,368

343,104

Amortisation
Balance at 1 January 2018
Amortisation for the year

2,700,477
1,472,988

-

52,140
28,440

2,585,434
1,410,237

62,903
34,311

Balance at 31 December 2018

4,173,465

-

80,580

3,995,671

97,214

Balance at 1 January 2019
Amortisation for the year

4,173,465
1,472,984

-

80,580
28,439

3,995,671
1,410,236

97,214
34,309

Balance at 31 December 2019

5,646,449

-

109,019

5,405,907

131,523

Carrying amounts
At 31 December 2018

13,162,169

2,605,760

203,822

10,106,697

245,890

At 31 December 2019

11,751,165

2,667,740

175,383

8,696,461

211,581
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16

Intangible assets and goodwill (continued)

16.2.1

Amortisation
The amortisation of customer relationships, licences and brand is included in ‘cost of sales’ in the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

16.2.2

Intangible assets at reporting date included contractual and non-contractual customer
relationships acquired in a business combination. The remaining amortisation period is of 6 years.

16.3

Impairment testing for goodwill
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of Middle East Tubular Services Limited (‘the METS subgroup’) is mainly attributable to the synergies expected to be achieved from combining the
operations of the METS sub-group with the Group and the skills and technical talent of the METS
sub-group’s work force. The goodwill of €2,667,740 (2018: €2,605,760) arising from the
acquisition of the METS sub-group has been wholly allocated to the group of CGUs making up the
OCTG segment. Goodwill has been capitalised as an intangible asset and an impairment
assessment is carried out at least annually.
The recoverable amount of this group of CGUs was based on its value-in-use, determined by
discounting the future cash flows to be generated from the continuing use of the CGU. The
businesses of the CGUs underlying the OCTG group of CGUs are subject to the following risks:
▪
▪
▪

the global and regional political and economic risks;
the concentration risk due to dependency on a few customers; and
the volatility in oil and gas prices and related demand for oil and gas and their impact
on the customers business activity.

The recoverable amount of the group of CGUs exceeded its carrying amount and thus no
impairment loss was recognised.
The discount rates were a pre-tax measure based on the CGU-specific weighted-average cost of
capital and reflect specific risks and conditions related to the cash flows which are not already
reflected in the cash flow projection, including currency and country risks.
The cash flow projections for projects-related CGUs considered specific estimates for the next, or
first expected, full year of operation, extrapolated to the expected duration of the projects using
a steady growth rate. The other CGUs’ cash flow projections included specific estimates for five
years and a steady terminal growth rate thereafter.
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16

Intangible assets and goodwill (continued)

16.3

Impairment testing for goodwill (continued)
Up to 2018, expectations about possible variations in the amount or timing of future cash were
principally reflected as risk-adjustments in the discount rate, in line with the ‘traditional’ approach
of projecting cash flows at their most likely level. In 2019, the ‘expected cash flow’ approach was
adopted instead, whereby expectations about possible variations in the amount or timing of
future cash are principally reflected in the cash flow by focusing on direct analysis of the cash
flows in question and on more explicit statements of the assumptions used in the measurement.
The interest rates used to discount the expected cash flows are risk-adjusted, but only for residual
risks i.e. those risks for which the estimated cash flows have not been adjusted. This change in
approach is expected to be a more effective measurement tool in reflecting the possible
variations in the amount or timing of future cash flows. In view of this change, the key
assumptions used in 2019 are not directly comparable to those used in 2018.
Revenue growth was projected taking into account estimates of sales volumes and price growth
for the next five years, including probability-weighted expectations for large accounts and
uncontracted business. EBITDA margin was based on management’s expectations of market
developments and future outcomes, taking into account past performance. It was assumed that
sales prices would increase in line with forecast inflation over the projected period.
Terminal value growth rate was determined based on management’s estimate of the forecast
inflation rate in the region, consistent with external sources of information.
The key assumptions used in the estimation of value-in-use were as follows.

Discount rates, range
(weighted average over next 5Y cash flows)
EBITDA margin, overall average over next 5 years
Extrapolation growth rate (projects-related CGUs)
Annual revenue growth rate (all other CGUs in
total), average over next 5Y
Terminal growth rate after 5Y (all other CGUs)

2019

2018

%

%

14.8 – 21.6
(16.5)
39.6
0.0

13.0 – 26.6
(20.6)
44.1
0.0

17.3

30.2

2.0

2.0

The estimated recoverable amount of the group of CGUs exceeded its carrying amount by
approximately €3.8 million (2018: €8.7 million). Management has identified that the following
changes in two key assumptions could cause the carrying amount to exceed the recoverable
amount. The following table shows the amount by which these assumptions would need to
change individually (uniformly across CGUs) for the estimated recoverable amount of the group
of CGUs to be equal to the carrying amount.
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16

Intangible assets and goodwill (continued)

16.3

Impairment testing for goodwill (continued)

Discount rate
EBITDA margin

17

Deferred tax assets and liabilities

17.1

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:

The Group

Property, plant and
equipment
Provision for
discounted future
gratuity payments
Provision for doubtful
debts
Provision for exchange
fluctuations
Investment tax credits
Unabsorbed capital
allowances and
unutilised tax losses
Lease liabilities
Right-of-use assets
Tax assets/(liabilities)
Set-off of tax
Net tax
assets/(liabilities)

Assets

2019

Change required
2018

%

%

+ 2.3
- 2.9

+ 7.8
- 5.4

Liabilities

Net

2019

2018

2019

2018

2019

2018

€

€

€

€

€

€

-

-

(1,984,110)

(1,056,870)

(1,984,110)

(1,056,870)

17,047

11,476

-

17,047

11,476

381,933

335,024

-

381,933

335,024

8,339,822

5,178
8,339,822

-

(13,790)
8,339,822

5,178
8,339,822

638,236
4,005,351

876,820
4,184,586
-

(9,304,075)

(9,763,028)

638,236
4,005,352
(9,304,075)

876,820
4,184,586
(9,763,028)

13,382,389
(5,079,154)

13,752,906
(4,334,362)

(11,301,975)
5,079,154

(10,819,898)
4,334,362

2,080,414
-

2,933,008
-

8,303,235

9,418,544

(6,222,821)

(6,485,536)

2,080,414

2,933,008

(13,790)
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17

Deferred tax assets and liabilities (continued)

17.2

Movement in temporary differences during the year - The Group

Balance
01.01.18

Recognised in
profit and loss
2018
€

€
Property, plant and equipment
Provision for discontinued future
gratuity payments
Provision for doubtful debts
Provision for exchange fluctuations
Investment tax credits
Unutilised tax losses and
unabsorbed capital allowance
Right-of-use assets
Lease liabilities

IFRS 9
adjustment at
01.01.18
€

Balance
31.12.18
€

(1,012,533)

(44,337)

-

(1,056,870)

10,936
2,921
5,712
9,298,639
768,954

540
38,247
(534)
(958,817)
107,866

293,856
-

11,476
335,024
5,178
8,339,822
876,820

(9,362,572)
3,536,072

(400,456)
648,514

-

(9,763,028)
4,184,586

3,248,129

(608,977)

293,856

2,933,008

Balance
01.01.19

Recognised in profit
and loss 2019

IFRS 9
adjustment at
01.01.19

Balance
31.12.19

€

€

€

€

Property, plant and equipment
Provision for discontinued
future gratuity payments

(1,056,870)

(927,240)

-

(1,984,110)

11,476

5,571

-

17,047

Provision for doubtful debts
Provision for exchange
fluctuations
Investment tax credits
Unutilised tax losses and
unabsorbed capital allowance

335,024
5,178

46,909
(18,968)

-

381,933
(13,790)

8,339,822
876,820

(238,584)

-

8,339,822
638,236

(9,763,028)
4,184,586

458,953
(179,235)

-

(9,304,075)
4,005,351

2,933,008

(852,595)

-

2,080,414

Right-of-use assets
Lease liabilities
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17

Deferred tax assets and liabilities (continued)

17.3

Recognition of deferred tax asset on investment tax credits
As at 31 December 2019, the Company’s subsidiary, Medserv Operations Limited recognised a
deferred tax asset of €8,339,822 (2018: €8,339,822) to the extent of investment tax credits
expected to be utilised in the future. Based on the subsidiary’s profit forecasts for the foreseeable
period and with reference to historical taxable profits and trading levels registered in the past
years, the directors believe that the subsidiary will have sufficient taxable profits in the future
against which this deferred tax asset can be utilised.
These profit forecasts were based on realistic assumptions of business growth, including the
expected volume of business arising from maintenance projects and the provision of logistic
support services to the offshore oil and gas industry during the forecast period. Historic values
of similar projects were used to support and quantify the net result of the future projects and
services. The extent of utilization of the investment tax credits was based on the assumption that
the profit forecasts will be subject to the current tax rate of 35%. During 2018, the subsidiary was
granted the sum of €200,000 in settlement of unutilised investment tax credits awarded in
relation to the Special Tax Credits (STCs) in terms of regulations 31 to 35 of the BPRs that are
available to beneficiaries in terms of regulation 32 of the BPRs. This amount is payable in two
equal instalments over 2 years. The first instalment was received in 2018 and the second
instalment received in 2019 is being recognised in other income (see note 6). The investment tax
credits are available in terms of regulation 5 of the BPRs and regulation 4 of the IARs.
None of the investment tax credits, unutilised tax losses and unabsorbed capital allowance are
subject to an expiration date.

17.4

Unrecognised deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of:
-

-

18

Investment tax credits amounting to €1.2million generated during the year available to
Medserv Operations Limited, because it is not probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the Group can use the benefits therefrom; and
STCs amounting to €0.9million available to Medserv Operations Limited in view of limitations
in the carry forward period.

Inventories
Inventories amounting to €1,382,852 (2018: €1,274,704) consisted of consumables used in the
provision of maintenance and OCTG services. In 2019, inventories of €841,721 (2018:
€1,249,074) were recognised as an expense during the year and included in ‘cost of sales’.
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19

Trade and other receivables

19.1
The Group
Note

The Company

2019

2018

2019

2018

€

€

€

€

15,426,053
1,587,926
769,923

12,824,215
1,152,162
754,235

18,925
7,332
-

12,049,301
-

Total trade and other receivables

17,783,902

14,730,612

26,257

12,049,301

Current

17,783,902

14,730,612

26,257

12,049,301

17,783,902

14,730,612

26,257

12,049,301

Trade receivables
Amounts due by subsidiaries
Other receivables
Deferred Expenditure
Prepayments

19.2

19.2

During the year, the amounts due by subsidiaries were capitalized and treated as part of the
subsidiaries’ equity by way of support to the subsidiaries (see note 14.1). Amounts due by
subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. Transactions with related
parties are set out in note 31 to these financial statements.

19.3

Other receivables consist of VAT receivable at year end and other deposits paid.

19.4

The Group’s exposure to credit and currency risks and impairment losses relating to trade and
other receivables are disclosed in note 28.
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19

Trade and other receivables (continued)

19.5

Receivables from subsidiaries
Receivables from subsidiaries classified as non-current assets have the following terms and
conditions:
Currency

Unsecured
loan
Unsecured
loan
Unsecured
loan
Unsecured
loan
Unsecured
loan
Unsecured
loan
Unsecured
loan
Unsecured
loan
Unsecured
loan

Year of
maturity

EUR

2023

-

3,424,959

EUR

6.00%

2022

1,135,270

3,683,704

EUR

4.50%

2026

941,270

941,270

EUR

4.50%

2026

21,355,258

21,318,220

USD

5.75%

2026

8,297,481

8,116,425

EUR

6.00%

2023

9,389,536

9,346,513

EUR

6.00%

2020

-

1,628,701

EUR

6.25%

2020

910,160

910,163

EUR

6.00%

2021

1,628,701

-

43,657,676
(107,000)
43,550,676

49,369,955
(107,000)
49,262,955

43,550,676
43,550,676

49,262,955
49,262,955

Recognition of expected credit losses under IFRS 9

Non- Current

19.6

The Company
2019
€

Nominal
interest
rate
6.00%

2018
€

During the year, amounts due to subsidiaries amounting to €8,235,951 were set off against the
receivables from subsidiaries (see note 26.2).
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19

Trade and other receivables (continued)

19.7

Past due loans receivables included in non-current receivables from subsidiaries include loans
receivable from Medserv M.E. Limited (“Medserv ME”) and Medserv Eastern Mediterranean
Limited (“MEM”) amounting to €39,042,275 (2018: €38,781,158) and €1,628,701 (2018:
€1,628,701), respectively.
For past due loans receivable, the Company assesses at the reporting date whether those
receivables are credit impaired. Any credit losses are measured at the present value of all cash
shortfalls. In estimating any shortfalls (and therefore any expected credit loss) on these loans
receivable, the Company applied the same value-in-use analysis prepared in estimating the
recoverable amount of the related Company’s investments as the recoverability of those
receivables is supported by the same cash flows and subject to the same risks factors and key
assumptions as those underlying the calculation of the recoverable amount of the related
investments. The recoverable amounts of these loans exceed their carrying amounts at reporting
date and therefore no credit losses have been determined. Refer to note 14.4.

20

Capital and reserves

20.1

Share capital
Ordinary shares
of the Company

In issue at 1 January and 31 December - fully paid

2019

2018

No.

No.

53,744,405

53,744,405

The Company’s authorised share capital amounts to 120,000,000 shares of €0.10 each (2018:
120,000,000 ordinary shares of €0.10 each).
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time
and are entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All shares rank equally with
regard to the Group and the Company’s residual assets.
20.2

Share premium
Share premium amounting to €12,003,829 (2018: €12,003,829) represents premium on issue of
8,744,399 ordinary shares of a nominal value of €0.10 each at a share price of €1.50 each (see
note 20.1). Share premium is shown net of transaction costs of €238,330 directly attributable to
the issue of the ordinary shares.
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20

Capital and reserves (continued)

20.3

Translation reserve
The translation reserve comprises all foreign currency differences arising from the translation of
the financial statements of foreign operations, as well as the effective portion of any foreign
currency differences arising from hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation.

20.4

Hedging reserve
The hedging reserve comprises the net loss on hedge of net investment in foreign operations and
the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of hedging instruments used
in cash flow hedges pending subsequent recognition in profit or loss as the hedged cash flows or
items affect profit or loss or directly included in the initial cost or other carrying amount of a nonfinancial asset or non-financial liability..

20.5

Revaluation reserve
The revaluation reserve relates to the revaluation of the right-of-use assets at the reporting date
consisting of land held from emphyteutical grant (see note 29).

20.6

Availability of reserves for distribution
The Company

Non-distributable

20.7

2019

2018

€

€

12,003,829

12,003,829

Dividends
No reserves are available for distribution by the Company.

21

Earnings per share
The calculation of basic earnings per share of the Group and the Company is based on the profit
or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company as shown in the statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, divided by the weighted-average number of ordinary
shares at 31 December 2019.
There were no dilutive potential ordinary shares during the current and comparative year.
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21

Earnings per share (continued)
Loss attributable to ordinary shareholders from continuing operations (basic)
The Group

Loss for the year attributable to
owners of the Company

The Company

2019

2018

2019

2018

€

€

€

€

(2,924,594)

(9,043,058)

(3,761,949)

(123,093)

Weighted-average number of ordinary shares (basic)
2019

2018

€

€

Issued ordinary shares at 1 January
and 31 December

53,744,405

53,744,405

Weighted-average number of ordinary
shares at 31 December

53,744,405

53,744,405

Earnings per share of the Group and the Company for the year ended 31 December 2019
amounted to a negative 5c4 (2018: negative earnings per share of 16c8) and negative 7c (2018:
negative earnings per share of 0c2) respectively.

22

Deferred income
During 2012, the Group was awarded an extension of property rights over industrial property
forming part of the Malta Freeport at the Port of Marsaxlokk. These property rights, which
comprise land and the overlying buildings and facilities, emanate from the various emphyteutical
grant deeds, a lease agreement as well as the operating licence issued by the Malta Freeport
Corporation Limited to Medserv Operations Limited (the subsidiary). The award was conditional
on the Group investing €9 million in improvements to the underlying property and reaching
employment levels of 90 full time equivalents by the year 2045. Both conditions were fulfilled by
31 December 2014.
This deferred income is being recognised in profit or loss over the remaining period of the
emphyteutical grant. The amount recognised in profit or loss during 2019 was equal to €775,533
(2018: €775,533). Deferred income also includes an amount of €100,000 awarded in settlement
of unutilised special tax credits and a government grant amounting to €50,381 (2018: €54,762)
received in relation to the Group’s investment in property, plant and equipment, amortised over
the estimated useful life.
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23

Loans and borrowings

23.1

This note provides information about the contractual terms of the Group’s and Company’s
interest-bearing loans and borrowings. For more information about the Group’s exposure to
interest rate, foreign currency and liquidity risk, see note 28.
The Group

Non-current liabilities
Secured bank loans
Secured notes
Unsecured notes

Current liabilities
Secured bank loans
Bank overdrafts

23.2

The Company

2019

2018

2019

2018

€

€

€

€

2,448,650
19,996,983
30,346,757

3,975,265
19,928,216
30,124,841

19,996,983
30,346,757

19,928,216
30,124,841

52,792,390

54,028,322

50,343,740

50,053,057

2,145,528
5,117,977

2,075,411
3,209,219

-

-

7,263,505

5,284,630

-

-

Terms and debt repayment schedule
The terms and conditions of outstanding loans are as follows:
Carrying amount
Nominal
interest
rate
Bank’s
base rate +
3.00%

Year of
maturity

€749,112

5.50%

2022

€3,053,312

€4,017,432

5.00%

2021

USD

€Nil

€457,642

LIBOR +
3.5%

2019

Secured notes

EUR

€19,996,983

€19,928,216

6.00%

2023

Unsecured notes

EUR

€22,112,609

€22,074,946

4.50%

2026

Unsecured notes

USD

€8,230,050

€8,049,895

5.75%

2026

Original
currency

2019

2018

Bank loan

EUR

€548,995

€826,489

Bank loan

OMR

€995,213

Bank loan

EGP

Bank loan
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23

Loans and borrowings (continued)

23.2

Terms and debt repayment schedule (continued)
The bank loans denominated in Euro were secured by first and second general hypothec each for
€2,316,436 over all assets present and future given by Medserv Operations Limited, second
special hypothec for €1,876,904 over the temporary utile dominium of Medserv site and property
at Malta Freeport, joint and several guarantee of €2,169,574, pledge on receivables, guarantee
for €12,270,000 given by the Company; first pledge over a combined business policy for
€8,568,381 and pledge of insurance cover over purchased equipment for €1,334,000, a letter of
undertaking given by the shareholders that Mr Anthony J Duncan and Mr Anthony S Diacono will
directly or indirectly retain control and hold more than 51% of the issued capital; letter of
undertaking by the parent company whereby it undertakes to maintain the present level of its
control and interest in Medserv Operations Limited through its shareholding throughout the
duration of the facilities, and a letter of undertaking by the Company whereby it undertakes not
to declare dividends or pay shareholders’ loans without the bank’s written consent. The USD
denominated debt are designated as hedging instruments in a net investment hedge (note 28.6).

23.3

The carrying amount of the notes is made up as follows:

2019

€

Balance at 1 January 2019
Effect of movement in exchange rate
Amortisation of transaction costs during the year

50,053,057
206,204
84,479

Balance as at 31 December 2019

50,343,740

2018

€

Balance at 1 January 2018
Effect of movement in exchange rate
Amortisation of transaction costs during the year

49,570,641
349,801
132,615

Balance as at 31 December 2018

50,053,057

Notes issued in 2016 with a carrying amount as at 31 December 2019 of €30,346,757 (2018:
€30,124,841) are unsecured. The other notes are secured by Medserv Operations Limited through
a general hypothec and a special hypothec over its emphyteutical rights on the Medserv site at
the Malta Freeport at the Port of Marsaxlokk (refer to Note 13.5).
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23

Loans and borrowings (continued)

23.4

Furthermore, as at 31 December 2019, the Group enjoyed general overdraft facilities of
€4,250,000 at the following terms and conditions:
Bank overdraft

Interest rate

Security

€3,500,000

5.35%

Second and special Hypothec for €7,500,000
on subsidiary company’s assets.

€750,000

5.15%

Joint and several guarantees for €1,500,000
by the parent company; and

At 31 December 2019, the Group had unutilised bank overdraft facilities of €541,409 (2018:
€587,560).
At 31 December 2019, the Group availed of credit card facilities amounting to approximately
€1,935,000 (2018: €1,935,000) for OCTG customs clearance purposes.

24

Provisions
The Group

Balance at 1 January 2019
Provisions reversed during the year

Total

Legal and
constructive
obligations

Other
claims

€

€

€

(44,191)
44,191

Balance at 31 December 2019

-
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25

Employee benefits
The Group

25.1

Liability for severance payments
Liability for retirement gratuities

Non-current
Current

25.2

25.3

2019

2018

€

€

(928,169)
(47,535)

(786,202)
(32,961)

(975,704)

(819,163)

(959,789)
(15,915)

(819,163)
-

(975,704)

(819,163)

The following table shows a reconciliation for the liability for severance payments.
2019

2018

€

€

Balance at 1 January
Included in profit or loss:
Interest cost
Current service cost
Effect of movements in exchange rates
Benefits paid

(786,202)

(677,462)

(50,325)
(84,646)
(15,881)
8,885

(255,465)
(33,533)
180,258

Balance at 31 December

(928,169)

(786,202)

The following were the principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date (expressed as
weighted averages).
2019
Discount rate
Future salary growth
Expected term

3.5%
5.0%
6.90 years
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2018
3.5%
5.0%
8.79 years
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25

Employee benefits (continued)

25.4

Reasonably possible changes at the reporting date to one of the relevant actuarial assumptions,
holding other assumptions constant, would have affected the defined benefit obligation by the
amounts shown below.

31 December 2019
Increase
Decrease
€

€

€

€

51,349

(55,674)

28,029

(34,256)

(160,504)

160,504

(86,248)

74,139

27,138

(28,088)

10,822

(13,639)

Discount rate (1% movement)
Future salary growth (1% movement)
Expected term (1 year)

26

31 December 2018
Increase Decrease

Trade and other payables

26.1

Trade payables
Amounts due to shareholders
Amounts due to note holders
Amounts due to subsidiaries
Amounts due to noncontrolling interest
Accrued expenses
Other payables

Current
Non- Current

The Group
2019
2018
€
€
6,086,108
4,402,335
61,014
61,014

The Company
2019
2018
€
€
82,804
87,530
61,014
61,014

13,586
-

8,560
-

13,586
332,094

8,560
7,700,010

1,859,910

1,960,033

-

-

2,214,907
703,381

1,147,156
566,295

64,728
-

154,652
-

10,938,906
9,078,996
1,859,910
10,938,906

8,145,393
8,145,393
8,145,393

554,226
554,226
554,226

8,011,766
8,011,766
8,011,766

26.2

During the year, amounts due to subsidiaries amounting to €8,235,951 were set off against the
receivables from subsidiaries (see note 19.4). The amounts due to subsidiaries and shareholders
are all unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand. Transactions with related parties are
set out in note 31 to these financial statements.

26.3

The Group’s and Company’s exposure to currency and liquidity risk related to trade and other
payables is disclosed in note 28.
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27

Cash and cash equivalents

Note
Cash in hand
Bank balances

Bank overdraft used for cash
management purposes

22

The Group
2019
2018
€
€
207,787
161,602
5,535,192
5,454,630

The Company
2019
2018
€
€
14,225
15,916

5,742,979

5,616,232

14,225

15,916

(5,117,977)

(3,209,219)

-

-

625,002

2,407,013

14,225

15,916

Cash and cash equivalents

The Group’s and Company’s exposure to interest rate risk and sensitivity analysis for financial
assets and liabilities are disclosed in note 28.

28

Financial instruments – Fair values and risk management

28.1

Accounting classifications and fair values
Accounting classifications
The Group classifies non-derivative financial assets and non-derivative financial liabilities into the
categories of ‘loans and receivables’ and ‘other financial liabilities’, respectively. At reporting
date, the Group’s loans and receivables comprised cash and cash equivalents and trade and other
receivables. On the same date, the Company’s loans and receivables comprised loans receivable
from subsidiaries, cash and cash equivalents and trade and other receivables. The Group’s nonderivative financial liabilities comprised secured notes, loans and borrowings, bank overdrafts
and trade and other payables. The Company’s non-derivative financial liabilities comprised
secured notes and trade and other payables.
Measurement of fair values
A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair
values, for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities.
Fair values have been determined for disclosure purposes based on the following methods. When
applicable, further information about the assumptions made in determining fair values is
disclosed in the notes specific to that asset or liability. When measuring the fair value of an asset
or liability, the Group uses observable market data as far as possible.
Significant valuation issues are reported to the Group's audit committee.
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28

Financial instruments – Fair values and risk management(continued)

28.1

Accounting classifications and fair values (continued)
Fair values versus carrying amounts (continued)
Fair values are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used
in the valuations techniques as follows:
•
•

•

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2: inputs other than quoted market prices included in Level 1 that are observable
for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from
prices).
Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data
(unobservable inputs).

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability fall into different levels of the
fair value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety in the same
level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire
measurement.
The Group recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the
reporting period during which the change has occurred.
The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and financial
liabilities. It does not include fair value information for financial assets and financial liabilities not
measured at fair value if the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value.

The Group and the Company
31 December 2019

31 December 2018

Carrying
amount

Fair
value

Carrying
amount

Fair
value

€

€

€

€

Financial instruments
not measured at fair value
Secured notes

(19,996,983)

(20,000,000)

(19,928,216) (20,420,000)

Unsecured notes

(30,346,757)

(29,834,143)

(30,124,841) (30,528,551)
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28

Financial instruments – Fair values and risk management(continued)

28.1

Accounting classifications and fair values (continued)
Fair values versus carrying amounts (continued)
The Group and the Company did not have any financial instruments measured at fair value in the
current and comparative year.
The fair value of financial instruments not measured at fair value was determined as follows:
Secured and unsecured notes issued
This category of liabilities is carried at amortised cost. Its fair value has been determined by
reference to the market price as at 31 December 2018 and classified as Level 2 in view of the
infrequent activity in the market.
Loans and receivables
This category of assets is reported net of impairment allowances to reflect the estimated
recoverable amounts. Cash at bank and trade and receivables are all short-term in nature. The
carrying amounts of these financial assets are therefore deemed to approximate their fair values.
Secured bank loans
The fair values of the Group’s interest-bearing borrowings and loans are determined by using the
discounted cash-flow method using discount rate that reflects the issuer’s borrowing rate as at
the end of the reporting period.
Other financial liabilities
This category of liabilities is carried at amortised cost. The carrying value of these liabilities which
are short term in nature, approximates their fair values.

28.2

Financial risk management
The Group has exposure to the following risks arising from financial instruments:
•
•
•
•

credit risk
liquidity risk
market risk
operational risk.

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the
Group’s objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Group’s
management of capital. The information presented in this note should be read in conjunction
with the commentary in the Directors’ Report under “Principal risks and uncertainties”.
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28

Financial instruments – Fair values and risk management (continued)

28.3

Risk management framework
The Company’s Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight
of the Group’s risk management framework. The board of directors has established the Financial
Risk Management Committee, which is responsible for developing and monitoring the Group's
risk management policies. The committee reports regularly to the board of directors on its
activities.
The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by
the Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to
limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market
conditions and the Group’s activities. The Group, through its training and management standards
and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all
employees understand their roles and obligations.
The Group’s Audit Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group’s
risk management policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management
framework in relation to the risks faced by the Group. The Group Audit Committee is assisted in
its oversight role by internal audit. Internal audit undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of
risk management controls and procedures, the results of which are reported to the audit
committee.

28.4

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s bank
balances, trade receivables, and receivables from subsidiaries.
The carrying amounts of financial assets represent the maximum credit exposure as follows:
Carrying amount
The Group

The Company

2019

2018

2019

2018

€

€

€

€

Trade and other receivables
and contract assets

18,621,653

14,044,151

26,257

12,049,301

Receivable from subsidiaries

-

-

43,550,676

49,262,955

5,535,192

5,454,630

14,225

15,916

24,156,845

19,498,781

43,591,158

61,328,172

Cash at bank
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28

Financial instruments – Fair values and risk management (continued)

28.4

Credit risk (continued)
Impairment losses on financial assets recognised in profit or loss were as follows:
The Group

Impairment loss on trade and other
receivables
Impairment loss on amounts receivable
from subsidiaries
Impairment loss on cash at bank

The Company

2019

2018

2019

2018

€

€

€

€

(69,452)

(95,751)

-

-

-

(26,894)

22,625
-

69,454
-

(69,452)

(122,645)

22,625

69,454

Trade receivables and contract assets
The Group offers logistical and OCTG services to large customers operating within the oil and gas
industry. These customers operate huge budgets and historically have sufficient funds to meet
their obligations towards the Group.
The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer. However, management also considers the demographics of the Group’s customer
base, including the default risk of the industry and country in which customers operate, as these
factors may have an influence on credit risk. Details of concentration of revenue are included in
note 5.4.
Through the Financial Risk Management Committee, the Group has an internal control system
which identifies at an early stage any events of default. Most of the Group’s customers have been
transacting with the Group for a number of years, and losses rarely occur. In monitoring customer
credit risk, customers are grouped according to their credit characteristics, including geographic
location, aging profile, maturity, trade history with the Group and existence of previous financial
difficulties.
The Group does not require collateral in respect of trade and other receivables. The Group does
not have trade receivable and contract assets for which no loss allowance is recognised because
of collateral.
As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s three (2018: three) most significant customers accounted
for €10.2 million (2018: €8.06 million) of the trade receivables.
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Financial instruments – Fair values and risk management (continued)

28.4

Credit risk (continued)
Trade receivables and contract assets (continued)
At 31 December 2019, the exposure to credit risk for trade receivables and contract assets by
geographic region was as follows:
The Group
2019

2018

€

€

Carrying amount
Domestic

355,968

202,025

Eurozone countries

893,240

2,403,176

Libya

6,287,606

6,479,042

Middle East

2,211,670

2,637,202

Other regions

7,285,243

1,170,545

17,033,727

12,891,990

A summary of the Group’s exposure to credit risk for trade receivables and contract assets is as
follows.
The Group
2019

2018

€

€

Not-credit impaired
External credit ratings at least Baa3 from Standard
& Poor’s or BBB- from Standard & Poor’s
Other customers:
- Four or more years’ trading history with the Group
- Less than four years’ trading history with the Group
- Higher risk
Total gross carrying amount
Loss allowance

4,406,394

1,397,042

6,409,170
6,356,770
879,713
18,052,047
(1,018,320)

11,086,884
476,795
880,043
13,840,764
(948,774)

Carrying amount

17,033,727

12,891,990
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28.4

Financial instruments – Fair values and risk management (continued)
Credit risk (continued)
Trade receivables and contract assets (continued)
Other trade receivables were predominantly highly reputable international oil companies and their
subcontractors who have over five years’ trading history with the Group.
Expected credit loss assessment for corporate customers
The Group uses different provisioning matrices to measure the ECLs of trade receivables:
• Loss rates calculated using a ‘roll rate’ method is based on the probability of a receivable
progressing through successive stages of delinquency to write-off. Roll rates are
calculated separately for exposures by different type of customer.
• Loss rates calculated using a method based on the historical period of sales to determine
what part of sales were actually written off in preceding reporting periods.
• Specific provisions for internally and externally rated customers
Loss rates are based on actual credit loss experience over the past five years. These rates are
multiplied by scalar factors to reflect differences between economic conditions during the period
over which the historical data has been collected, current conditions and the Group’s view of
economic conditions over the expected lives of the receivables.
The following tables provide information about the exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade
receivables and contract assets for corporate customers as at 31 December 2019.
The Group
Weightedaverage
loss rate

Current (not past due)
and <30 days past due
Past due 31 to 60 days
Past due 61 to 90 days
Past due > 90 days

4.49%
21.02%
1.12%
13.60%

78

Gross
carrying
amount

Impairment
loss allowance

€

€

2,582,878
802,735
4,646,438
3,417,894

116,053
168,725
52,114
464,837

11,449,945

801,729

Creditimpaired

No
No
No
No
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Financial instruments – Fair values and risk management (continued)

28.4

Credit risk (continued)
Trade receivables and contract assets (continued)
Expected credit loss assessment for corporate customers (continued)

31 December 2019
Equivalent to external
credit rating

Externally rated
AAA
BBB
B
AA
A
BB
Internally rated
Equivalent to CCC/C
Equivalent to D

Weightedaverage loss
rate

Gross carrying
amount

Impairment loss
allowance

Creditimpaired

€

€

0.00%
0.04%
3.41%
0.00%
0.04%
0.38%

287,216
2,801,535
309,409
81,886
401,715
524,634

1,256
10,545
166
2,003

No
No
No
No
No
No

10.47%
100.00%

1,088,699
88,672

113,950
88,672

No
Yes

5,583,766

216,592

The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade
receivables and contract assets for corporate customers as at 31 December 2018.
The Group
Weightedaverage
loss rate

Current (not past due)
and <30 days past due
Past due 31 to 60 days
Past due 61 to 90 days
Past due > 90 days

2.74%
1.59%
3.00%
3.11%
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Gross
carrying
amount

Impairment
loss
allowance

€

€

750,585
106,382
118,381
582,669

(1,159)
(1,689)
(3,551)
(18,133)

1,558,017

(24,532)

Creditimpaired

No
No
No
No
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Financial instruments – Fair values and risk management(continued)

28.4

Credit risk (continued)
Trade receivables and contract assets (continued)
Expected credit loss assessment for corporate customers (continued)
In 2018, loss rates calculated using a sales approach were based on actual credit loss experience
over the past four years, which after being multiplied by scalar factors to take cognisance of
current and future economic conditions resulted in a loss rate of 4.25% resulting in an ECL of
€310,420 on total exposures of €7,300,627 as at 31 December 2018.
Movements in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables and contract assets
The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables and contract
assets during the year was as follows.

The Group

Balance at 1 January under IFRS 9
Net remeasurement
of loss allowance
Balance at 31 December

2019

2018

€
981,188

€
875,174

69,452

106,014

1,050,640

981,188

Cash and cash equivalents
As at 31 December 2019, the Group and the Company held cash at bank of €5,535,192 (2018:
€5,454,630) and €14,225 (2018: €15,916) respectively. The cash and cash equivalents are held
with bank and financial institution counterparties, which are rated BBB+ to AA, based on
Standards & Poor’s ratings, and B3 to A1 by Moody’s.
Impairment on cash at bank has been measured on a 12-month expected loss basis and reflects
the short maturities of the exposures. The Group considers that its cash at bank have low credit
risk based on the external credit ratings of the counterparties.
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Financial instruments – Fair values and risk management(continued)

28.4

Credit risk (continued)
Cash and cash equivalents (continued)

The Group

The Company

2019

2018

2019

2018

€

€

€

4,221

45,278
260,830
3,714
84,019

219,891
155,348
3,903,641
75,438
1,775
405,878
672,249
47,304
-

€
14,225
-

15,916
-

Gross carrying amounts
Loss allowance

5,562,086
(26,894)

5,481,524
(26,894)

14,225
-

15,916
-

Carrying amount

5,535,192

5,454,630

14,225

15,916

At amortised cost
A1
A2
Aa3
Baa1
Ba1
Baa3
B2
B3
BBB
BBB+
BBBB+

4,767,443
396,581
-

Amounts due by subsidiaries
During 2019, a net impairment loss of €22,625 (2018: €69,454) on the amounts owed by
subsidiaries was sustained during the year.
Guarantees
At 31 December 2019, the Company has issued a guarantee to certain banks in respect of credit
facilities granted to two subsidiaries (see Note 30).
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Financial instruments – Fair values and risk management(continued)

28.5

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations
associated with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.
The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have
sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions,
without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.
The Group regularly reviews the costing of its services in its effort to monitor its cash flow
requirements.
The Group aims to maintain the level of its cash and cash equivalents at an amount in excess of
expected cash outflows on financial liabilities over the next 60 days, including the servicing of
financial obligations. The Group also monitors the level of expected cash inflows on trade and
other receivables together with expected cash outflows on trade and other payables. This
excludes the potential impact of extreme circumstances that cannot reasonably be predicted,
such as natural disasters.
As at 31 December 2019, the Group had an unutilised overdraft facility amounting to €541,409
(2018: €587,560), which bears interest at the Bank’s Base Rate plus 3 per cent.
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Financial instruments – Fair values and risk management (continued)

28.5

Liquidity risk (continued)
The following are the remaining contractual maturities of financial liabilities at the reporting date. The amounts are gross and undiscounted, and include
contractual interest payments and exclude the impact of netting agreements:
Carrying
amount
€

Contractual
cash flows
€

Less than
1 year
€

1-2
years
€

2-5
years
€

5-10
years
€

More than
10 years
€

31 December 2019
Financial liabilities
Secured notes
Unsecured notes
Secured bank loans
Bank overdraft
Lease liabilities
Trade and other payables

19,996,983
30,346,757
4,594,178
5,117,977
30,544,906
10,938,906

(24,800,000)
(39,629,840)
(4,796,082)
(5,316,349)
(65,855,015)
(10,938,906)

(1,200,000)
(1,459,870)
(2,311,957)
(5,316,349)
(3,980,928)
(10,938,906)

101,539,707

(151,336,192)

(25,208,010)

19,928,216
30,124,841
6,050,676
3,209,219
30,508,779
8,145,393
97,967,124

(26,000,000)
(40,856,633)
(6,508,746)
(3,338,261)
(61,763,651)
(8,145,393)
(146,612,684)

(1,200,000)
(1,448,858)
(2,475,006)
(3,338,261)
(3,739,945)
(8,145,393)
(20,347,463)

(1,199,425)
(1,458,248)
(2,165,048)
(3,635,058)
(8,457,779)

(22,400,575)
(36,711,722)
(319,077)
(7,975,295)
(67,406,669)

(12,073,625)
(12,073,625)

(38,190,109)
(38,190,109)

31 December 2018
Financial liabilities
Secured notes
Unsecured notes
Secured bank loans
Bank overdraft
Lease liabilities
Trade and other payables
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(1,199,425)
(1,452,827)
(1,974,086)
(3,884,699)
(8,511,037)

(23,600,575)
(4,346,573)
(2,059,654)
(7,867,344)
(37,874,146)

(33,608,376)
(9,573,967)
(43,182,343)

(36,697,695)
(36,697,695)
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Financial instruments – Fair values and risk management (continued)

28.5

Liquidity risk (continued)
It is not expected that the cash flows included in the maturity analysis are likely to occur
significantly earlier, or at significantly different amounts.

28.6

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, and interest
rates will affect the Group’s income. The objective of market risk management is to manage and
control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return.
Currency risk
The Group is exposed to currency risk to the extent that there is a mismatch between the
currencies in which sales, purchases and borrowings are denominated and the respective
functional currencies of the Group companies. The functional currencies of Group companies are
primarily the Euro and US Dollar (USD). The currencies in which these transactions are primarily
denominated are Euro, US Dollar (USD), Libyan Dinar (LYD), Omani Rial (OMR), Egyptian Pounds
(EGP), British Pounds (GBP) and United Arab Emirates Dirham (AED).
The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk was as follows based on notional amounts in
foreign currency:

Trade receivables
Trade payables
Unsecured notes
Bank loan
Available funds in foreign
currency

Net statement of
financial position
exposure

31 December 2019
OMR
AED

USD

LYD

6,524,915
3,243,425
9,216,504
-

-

457,355
120,063
(606,834)

4,532,481

43,873

23,517,325

43,873
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EGP

GBP

2,505,344
(1,224,259)
-

(54,730,317)

-

343,587

694,896

8,688,620

11,520

314,171

1,975,981

(46,041,697)

11,520
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Financial instruments – Fair values and risk management (continued)

28.6

Market risk (continued)
Currency risk (continued)

Trade receivables
Trade payables
Unsecured notes
Bank loan
Available funds in
foreign currency
Net statement of
financial position
exposure

31 December 2018
OMR
AED

USD

LYD

EGP

GBP

2,554,871
(71,834)
(9,212,171)
(523,446)

-

843,890
(241,052)
(329,277)

2,570,483
(1,835,005)
-

(3,042,570)
(82,095,476)

42,487
-

4,310,574

13,798

207,290

693,529

12,210,199

-

(2,942,006)

13,798

480,851

1,429,007

(72,927,847)

42,487

The Company’s exposure to foreign currency risk was as follows based on notional amounts in
foreign currency:
31 December
2019
Unsecured notes
Available funds in foreign currency

USD
(9,228,428)
3,924

Net statement of financial position exposure

(9,224,504)

31 December
2018
USD
9,288,307
(9,212,171)
11,326

Receivables from subsidiaries
Unsecured notes
Available funds in foreign currency
Net statement of financial position exposure

87,462

85

Medserv p.l.c.
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 December 2019

28

Financial instruments – Fair values and risk management (continued)

28.6

Market risk (continued)
Currency risk (continued)
The following significant exchange rates applied during the year:
Average rate

USD
GRP
LYD
OMR
AED
EGP

Reporting date
spot rate

2019

2018

2019

2018

1.1194
0.877
1.544
0.430
4.110
18.799

1.181
0.889
1.571
0.454
4.337
20.841

1.1215
0.850
1.543
0.4306
4.1187
17.963

1.144
0.899
1.579
0.440
4.203
20.426

A 10 percent strengthening of the Euro against the following currencies as at 31 December would
have increased / (decreased) profit or loss and equity by the pre-tax amounts shown below. This
analysis is based on foreign currency exchange rate variances that the Group and the Company
considered to be reasonably possible at the end of the reporting period. This analysis assumes
that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant. The analysis is performed on
the same basis for 2018.
The
The
Group
Company
Profit or loss
€
€

The
Group

The
Company
Equity
€
€

31 December 2019
USD
LYD
OMR
AED
EGP

(912,787)
(2,847)
258,175
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-

(1,185,155)
(72,959)
(48,024)
-

-
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Financial instruments – Fair values and risk management (continued)

28.6

Market risk (continued)
Currency risk (continued)
The
The
Group
Company
Profit or loss
€
€
31 December 2018
USD
LYD
OMR
AED

(229,592)
(858)
-

(978)
-

The
Group

The
Company
Equity
€
€

486,251
(184,192)
(34,002)

-

A 10 percent weakening of the Euro against the above currencies at 31 December would have
had the equal but opposite effect on the above currencies to the amounts shown above, on the
basis that all other variables remain constant.
Interest rate risk
Profile
At the reporting date the interest rate profile of the Group’s and the Company’s interest-bearing
financial instruments was:
Carrying amount
The Group

Variable-rate instruments
Financial assets
Financial liabilities

2019

2018

2019

2018

€

€

€

€

5,535,192

5,454,630

14,225

15,916

(4,479,464)

(4,493,350)

-

-

43,550,676

49,262,955

(50,343,740)

(50,053,057)

Fixed-rate instruments
Financial assets
Financial liabilities

The Company

(50,343,740)
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Financial instruments – Fair values and risk management (continued)

28.6

Market risk (continued)

The Group and the Company do not account for any fixed-rate financial assets and liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss. Therefore, a change in interest rate at the end of the reporting
period would not affect profit or loss.
The Group’s bank balances and borrowings and the Company’s bank balances are subject to an
interest rate that varies according to revisions made to the Bank’s Base Rate. The Group does
not carry out any hedging in order to hedge its interest rate risk exposure.
A change of 100 basis points in interest rates on variable-rate instruments would have increased
or decreased the Group’s profit or loss and equity by €10,557 (2018: €9,612 ) and by €142 (2018:
€159) on the Company’s profit or loss and equity. This analysis assumes that all other variables,
in particular foreign currency exchange rates, remain constant. The analysis is performed on the
same basis for 2018.
Net investment hedges
A foreign currency exposure arises from the Group’s net investment in METS that has a USD
functional currency. The risk arises from the fluctuation in spot exchange rates between the USD
and the Euro, which causes the amount of the net investment to vary.
The hedged risk in the net investment hedge is the risk of a weakening USD against the Euro that
will result in a reduction in the carrying amount of the Group’s net investment in METS.
Part of the Group’s net investment in METS is hedged by a USD denominated bond (carrying
amount: €8,231,373 (2018: €8,049,895)) and a USD denominated secured bank loan (carrying
amount: €nil (2018: €457,645)) which mitigates the foreign currency risk arising from the subgroup’s net assets. The bond and the loan are designated as hedging instruments for the changes
in the value of the net investment that is attributable to changes in the EUR/USD spot rate.
To assess hedge effectiveness, the Group determines the economic relationship between the
hedging instrument and the hedged item by comparing changes in the carrying amount of the
debts that is attributable to a change in the spot rate with changes in the investment in the foreign
operation due to movements in the spot rate (the offset method). The Group’s policy is to hedge
the net investment only to the extent of the debt principal.
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Financial instruments – Fair values and risk management (continued)

28.6

Market risk (continued)
Net investment hedges (continued)
The amounts related to items designated as hedging instruments were as follows:
The Group

Foreign exchange denominated debt
USD secured bank loan
USD denominated notes

Change in fair value used for calculating hedge
ineffectiveness
Change in value of hedging instrument
recognised in OCI
Hedge ineffectiveness recognised in profit or
loss within finance costs
Foreign currency translation reserve
28.7

2019

2018

€

€

8,228,688

457,642
8,049,895

8,228,688

8,507,537

160,278

487,867

(160,278)

(487,867)

-

-

(160,278)

(487,867)

Operational risk
Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes associated
with the Group’s processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from external factors
other than credit, market and liquidity risks such as those arising from legal and regulatory
requirements and generally accepted standards of corporate behaviour. Operational risks arise
from all of the Group’s operations.
The Group’s objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial
losses and damage to the Group’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness and to avoid control
procedures that restrict initiative and creativity.
The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to address
operational risk is assigned to senior management.
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Financial instruments – Fair values and risk management (continued)

28.7

Operational risk (continued)
This responsibility is supported by the development of overall Group standards for the
management of operational risk in the following areas:
• requirements for appropriate segregation of duties, including the independent authorisation
of transactions
• requirements for the reconciliation and monitoring of transactions
• compliance with regulatory and other legal requirements
• documentation of controls and procedures
• requirements for the periodic assessment of operational risks faced, and the adequacy of
controls and procedures to address the risks identified
• requirements for the reporting of operational losses and proposed remedial action
• development of contingency plans
• training and professional development
• ethical and business standards
• risk mitigation, including insurance where this is effective.

28.8

Capital management
The Group defines capital as paid-in capital stock, additional paid-in capital and retained earnings,
both appropriated and unappropriated. Other components of equity such as cumulative
translation adjustments are excluded from capital for the purposes of capital management.
The Group’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and
market confidence and to sustain future development of the business. The board of directors
monitors the return on capital, which the Group defines as result from operating activities divided
by total shareholders’ equity. The board also monitors the level of dividends to ordinary
shareholders.
The board of directors seeks to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be
possible with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and security afforded by a sound
capital position. In view of the nature of the Group’s activities and the extent of borrowings or
debt, the capital level as at the end of the reporting period is deemed adequate by the board of
directors. There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the
year.
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29

Leases

29.1

As a lessee
The Group leases several parcels of land and buildings in Malta, Cyprus, Iraq, UAE and Oman. The
lease terms for these leases run for various periods, up to a maximum remaining period of fortyone and a half years until 2060.
Information about leases for which the Group is a lessee is presented below.

29.1.1.1 Right-of-use assets
Property
2019
Note

2018

€

€

Balance at 1 January
Additions
Depreciation charge for the year
Lease modification
Effect of movement in exchange rates

78,335,057
98,086
(4,606,764)
1,737,328
284,290

75,895,472
9,796,875
(3,705,107)
(4,586,001)
933,818

Balance at 31 December

75,847,997

78,335,057

29.1.1.2 Impairment assessments
At reporting date, a result of the losses sustained in the comparative years by (i) Middle East
Tubular Services Limited ("METS UAE") and (iii) Middle East Tubular Services (Iraq) Limited ("METS
Iraq") and in consideration of the following risks:
•
•
•

the global and regional political and economic risks;
the concentration risk due to the dependency on a few customers; and
the volatility in oil and gas prices and related demand for oil and gas and their impact on
the customers’ business activity.

Other than the right-of-use assets of METS Sohar, which were tested separately for impairment,
the Group tested for impairment the property, plant and equipment (see note 13) and right-ofuse assets of METS UAE and METS Iraq as part of the related Cash-Generating Unit (CGU) of which
they form part.
The carrying amount of the tested rights-of-use assets at reporting date stood as follows:
•
•
•

METS UAE – €1,468,694
METS Sohar - €5,420,608
METS Iraq - €1,412,758

The assets and related CGUs form part of the METS sub-group and OCTG CGU which was also
tested for impairment in view of the yearly impairment testing for Goodwill (refer to note 16.3).
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Leases (continued)

29.1

As a lessee (continued)

29.1.1.2 Impairment assessments (continued)
The recoverable amount of these CGUs as at 31 December 2019 were determined with reference
to their value-in-use, by discounting the future cash flows to be generated from their continuing
use. The cash flow projections included specific estimates for the five-year period 2020 to 2024
and a terminal growth rate thereafter. The cash flow projections in the prior period considered
specific estimates for the years 2019 to 2023. EBITDA margins included in the projections were
based on management’s expectations of market developments and future outcomes, taking into
account past performance, adjusted for anticipated revenue growth. No impairment loss has
been determined for the tested assets and related CGUs.
29.1.1.3 Revaluation of land held from emphyteutical grant
The Group carries out a fair value exercise to revalue the property rights over the land that the
Group holds on a regular basis. The property rights held by the Group over industrial property
forming part of the Malta Freeport Terminals at the Port of Marsaxlokk and at Hal Far Industrial
Estate in Malta were also valued by an external valuer.
The property rights of the Group at the Malta Freeport Terminals, which comprise industrial land
and the overlying buildings and facilities, emanate from the emphyteutical grant deeds dated 29
May 1997, 23 December 1999 and 22 June 2004, the lease agreement dated 5 December 2012
as well as the operating licence issued by the Malta Freeport Corporation Limited to Medserv
Operations Limited on the 5 December 2012. The property rights of the Company at Hal Far
Industrial Estate, which comprise two adjacent plots of industrial land, emanate from the lease
agreements. The valuation of all these property rights was carried out on the basis of Market
Value on the assumption that the property rights could be sold subject to any existing third-party
obligations.
The Board of Directors has re-assessed the fair value of property rights over the land that the
subsidiary, Medserv Operations Limited, holds as of 31 December 2019, determined by reference
to an opinion provided by independent professional valuer. The determination of fair value
considers publicly available data and comparable recent market transactions on an arm’s length
basis, together with the analysis and experience of the local real estate market and information
provided by the Company.
On this basis, the Directors concluded that the carrying amount of the above-mentioned rightof-use assets of €59,913,561 approximates the fair value at the reporting date and that
accordingly no adjustment is required in these financial statements.
The revaluation increase of €16,957,752 (gross of tax) recognised in other comprehensive income
is determined after deducting the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset of €42,955,809 from
the aggregate of €59,913,561. The carrying amount of the other right-of-use assets relating to
land are not deemed materially different from their fair value and have thus not been revalued.
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Leases (continued)

29.1

As a lessee (continued)

29.1.1.4 Measurement of fair value
The following table shows the valuation technique used in measuring the fair value of land held
from emphyteutical grant, as well as the significant unobservable inputs used.

Valuation technique
Market approach: The valuation
model provides an indication of
value by comparing the subject
asset with identical or similar
assets
for
which
price
information is available.

29.1.2

Significant
unobservable inputs
Prices per square
meter ranging from
€161 to €1,076

Inter-relationship between key
unobservable inputs and fair
value measurement
The estimate fair value would
increase/ (decrease) if:
- price per square meter
was higher / (lower)

Lease liabilities

Maturity analysis-contractual undiscounted cash
flows
Less than one year
One to five years
Five years to ten years
More than ten years
Total undiscounted lease liabilities at 31 December

2019
€

2018
€

3,980,928
11,610,353
12,073,625
38,190,109

3,739,945
11,752,043
9,573,767
36,697,695

65,855,015

61,763,450

Current
Non-current

1,373,791
29,171,115

1,825,925
28,682,854

Lease liabilities included in the statement of
financial position at 31 December

30,544,906

30,508,779
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Leases (continued)

29.1.2

Lease liabilities
Amounts recognised in profit or loss

Interest on lease liabilities
Variable lease payments not included in the
measurement of lease liabilities

2019

2018

€

€

(1,988,383)

(1,760,802)

(55,182)

(53,040)

2019

2018

€

€

(4,136,489)

(3,187,177)

Amounts recognised in the statement of cash flows

Total cash outflow for leases

29.1.3

Extension option
Some leases contain extension options exercisable by the Group up to one year before the end
of the contract period. Where practicable, the Group seeks to include extension options in new
leases to provide operational flexibility. The extension options held are exercisable by the Group
and not by the lessors. The Group assesses at the lease commencement whether it is reasonably
certain to exercise the extension options and subsequently reassess whether it is reasonably
certain to exercise the options if there is a significant event or significant change in circumstances
within its control. The extension options provided to the Group were assessed by management
and it was concluded that all extension options exercisable by the Group are reasonably certain
to be exercised.
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30

Contingencies

30.1

At reporting date, the Group had the following contingent liabilities:
• Guarantees given by the Group’s bankers in favour of third parties amounting to €661,379
(2018: €1,811,876);
• The Company acts as a guarantor to certain banks in respect of credit facilities granted to
two subsidiaries up to a limit of €12,270,000;
• First charge over the purchased machinery, equipment, vehicles by a subsidiary in favour
of the bank;
• Irrevocable assignment of payments from a customer of a subsidiary in favour of the bank;
• Marginal deposit by way of monthly margin built up of OMR2,700 for 36 months till the
balance reaches OMR 97,200; and
• Letter of undertaking to route 100% of receivables of a particular customer through the
Group’s bankers.

30.2

The Company has uncalled share capital on its investments in subsidiaries, namely Medserv
International Limited, Medserv Libya Limited, Medserv Western Mediterranean Limited and
Medserv Eastern Mediterranean Limited amounting to €37,821 (2018: €38,781) (see note 14).

31

Related parties

31.1

Significant shareholders
Two of the Company’s directors, namely Mr Anthony S Diacono and Mr Anthony J Duncan hold
31.17% and 34.33% (2018: 31.17% and 34.33%) respectively of the issued share capital of the
Company either directly or indirectly.

31.2

Identity of related parties
The Group has a related party relationship with its directors, shareholders and immediate
relatives of a director.
The Company has a related party relationship with its subsidiaries (see note 14), its directors and
companies controlled by subsidiaries (“other related parties”).

31.3

Transactions with key management personnel
There were no loans to directors during the current and comparative year. Compensation for
services provided to the Group by key management personnel during the year amounted to
€103,750 (2018: €225,000). The total remuneration paid to key management personnel of the
Group (including directors’ emoluments) during the year amounted to €1,530,136 (2018:
€1,378,511).
A number of key management personnel, or their related parties, hold positions in other
companies that result in them having control or significant influence over the financial or
operating policies of these companies.
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Related parties (continued)

31.4

Other related party transactions
In addition to the transactions disclosed in the statements of changes in equity and cash flows
and note 19 to these financial statements, there were the following related party transactions:

The Company

Subsidiaries
Interest charged to

2018

€

€

2,565,507

The Group

Other related parties
Services provided by

31.5

2019

2,635,193

The Company

2019

2018

2019

2018

€

€

€

€

52,260

40,567

-

-

Related party balances
Information on amounts due from or payable to related parties are set out in notes 14, 19 and 26
to these financial statements.
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32

Subsequent events
The impact of COVID-19 pandemic which broke out after the reporting date has disrupted the
global economy, which in turn negatively impacted the performance of the Group’s operations.
At the same time, since the start of 2020, the oil and gas industry has been significantly affected
by the macro-economic uncertainty with regards to prices and demand levels for hydrocarbons
as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.
For the directors’ assessment in relation to the impact on COVID-19 on the Group’s and
Company’s going concern assessment, refer to note 2.1.
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